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Empire Industries Ltd. (“Empire”) is a public company that was formed in July 2006.  Empire’s mission is to increase shareholder 
value by leveraging its unique design and engineering capabilities in the fabrication of steel products.  Empire operates the fol-
lowing wholly owned business units:

DIVISION BUSINESS

Dynamic Structures Design and manufacture of complex ride systems, telescopes and custom machinery and 
equipment for the global theme park, education/government, and infrastructure markets.

Dynamic Attractions Turnkey global integrator of premium media-based entertainment attractions to major theme 
parks, and provider of parts and service for theme park attractions.

Empire Iron Works Structural steel fabrication and installation for the industrial and infrastructure markets in 
western Canada, primarily the oil sands and mining.

Tornado Hydrovacs Manufacture hydrovac trucks for excavation service providers to the oil and gas industry and 
the municipal market.

Ward Industrial Equipment Design and fabrication of bulk material handling equipment and air cleaning equipment for 
the industrial market.

Parr Metal Fabricators Fabrication of tanks, pressure vessels and other specialty carbon and stainless steel products.

In addition to these wholly owned businesses, Empire holds significant equity interests in two major business enterprises:

ENTERPRISE BUSINESS

Athabasca Chipewyan Empire 
(ACE) Industrial Services Ltd. 
(49%)

Steel fabrication and installation, machining, multi-trade industrial construction and main-
tenance services, primarily serving the oil sands market.  Facilities are in Fort McMurray, AB.  
This is a joint venture between the Athabasca Chipewyan First Nation Business Group and 
Empire Industries Ltd.

Dongguan Qiguang  
Dynamic Steel  
Structures, Ltd. (45%)

Fabrication and installation of complex structural steel projects in China through a joint 
venture Company owned 55% by Guangdong Qiguang Steel Structures Co. Ltd. and 45% by 
Empire Industries Ltd. Incorporation was granted by Chinese authorities during 2011 and ac-
tual operations commenced on August of 2011, operating out of a leased facility in Guangdong 
Province.

Empire maintains its head office in Winnipeg, Manitoba.  Its common shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange under the 
trading symbol EIL.

CORPORATE PROFILE
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2011 REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

In 2010, the Company and its Board of Directors conclud-
ed that strategic transformational change was required.  
The first decision the Company made was to concentrate 
on leveraging its globally competitive engineering and de-
sign strengths.  Secondly, the Company decided to reduce 
its investment in the domestic steel fabrication and erec-
tion business, which was under severe competitive pricing 
pressure due to the recession and to replace it with a lower 
cost foreign steel fabrication capability in China by enter-
ing into a joint venture with a Chinese steel fabricator.  

To this end, the Company began a planned exit of low 
margin, geographically challenged, money-losing steel 
fabrication divisions that tied up working capital and re-
quired significant bank operating lines of credit.  By the 
end of fiscal 2011, the Company had exited or entered into 
agreements to exit four steel-related business units that 
helped to reduce its Funded Debt by about $38 million 
from $48 million on December 31, 2008 to $10 million by 
December 31, 2011. 

Some of the specific initiatives completed by the Compa-
ny to give effect to the strategic transformational change 
during 2011 were:  

•	 On April 4, 2011, the Company settled $0.8 million of 
the subordinated notes as consideration for $0.7 mil-
lion of certain items of property, plant and equipment 
resulting in a $0.1 million gain. On December 31, 
2011, the Company completed the sale of its Winni-
peg and Welland structural steel fabrication divisions 
for $3.8 million plus working capital with the proceeds 
used to reduce Funded Debt.  This was followed by the 
Company divesting its KWH and Somerset business 
units on March 1, 2012 for $1.4 million of subordinat-
ed notes payable, resulting in a $1.3 million gain. After 
the divestitures, Empire has retained a structural steel 
fabrication and erection operation in Alberta, a com-
plex structural and mechanical fabrication operation 
in BC and a pressure vessel and stainless steel fabrica-
tion operation in Manitoba.

•	 In August of 2011, a steel fabrication company was 
incorporated in Guangdong Province, China that the 
Company has a 45% equity interest in. Empire’s 45% of 
the common equity of the joint venture was effectively 
financed by limited recourse loans provided by our 
Chinese partner.  Empire provides the Chinese joint 
venture with knowledge transfer advice in the form of 
quality control, manufacturing systems and processes 
and employee training and certification. These higher 
quality standards are necessary for the Chinese joint 
venture to become qualified to export fabricated steel 
to the rapidly growing industrial construction markets 
of Western Canada as well as satisfy demand for more 
complex fabrication projects in China itself.

•	 In August of 2011, Dynamic Attractions was incor-
porated and two industry leaders were hired to head 
this new business division for Empire. The Company 
committed significant resources throughout 2011 to 
develop its own line of proprietary media based enter-
tainment products and began to market its advanced 
engineering capability to the media based attraction 
market, The Company is aiming to become a global 
leader in the media based attractions industry. 

•	 In October of 2011, Empire’s 49% owned aboriginal 
partnership in the oil sands region of Alberta acquired 
Bartan Machine & Welding, making this 49% owned 
joint venture the largest machine shop in Ft. McMur-
ray and providing the required fabrication space to 
support the field erection services provided by our 
unique, aboriginal partnership.

•	 During 2011, the Company undertook private place-
ments raising $6.2 million in common equity and 
subordinated debt. These funds were used to provide 
the capital resources required to fund operating losses 
while it exited unprofitable steel fabrication plants in 
Western Canada and invested in the development of 
the media based attractions business. 

2011 REPORT TO ShAREhOLdERS

Highlights
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2011 REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS CONTINUED...

Sales in 2011 from continuing operations were $55.4 mil-
lion compared with $50.0 million in 2010. 
The Company had a net loss of $7.3 million ($0.05 basic 
and diluted loss per share) for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2011 that breaks downs as follows: 
•	 A loss from continuing operations of $6.2 million or 

$0.04 loss per share.
•	 A loss from discontinued operations of $1.1 million or 

$0.01 loss per share.
2011 can best be summarized as a year in which the Com-
pany invested heavily in building its product line of pro-
prietary products and finishing off its low margin book 
of steel fabrication business and completing its exit from 
non-core steel fabrication facilities.  The operating loss 
from operations was impacted by finishing off these lower 
margin jobs and the under absorption of fixed costs.
The investment in strengthening and broadening our 
specialized engineered product line in 2011 is starting to 
pay off in contract awards as evidenced by our backlog at 
December 31, 2011 of $43 million and $92 million as of 
March 31, 2012.
The 2011 loss of $7.3 million compares to a net loss of 
$9.3 million ($0.10 basic and diluted loss per share) for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 that breaks 
down as follows:
•	 A loss from continuing operations of $2.0 million or 

$0.02 loss per share.
•	 A loss from discontinued operations of $7.3 million or 

$0.08 loss per share.
The Company’s cash flow used in operations was $7.1 mil-
lion during 2011 versus $6.0 million used in 2010.  The 
cash flow loss in 2011 was largely financed by using the 
$6.2 million of equity and subordinate debt raised by the 
Company in 2011.  In addition, the Company raised $6.1 
million of cash from selling redundant assets and discon-
tinuing non-core operations.  This cash was used primar-
ily to reduce Funded Debt.
Since the start of the recession at the end of 2008, the 
Company has aggressively sold redundant assets, sold or 
discontinued non-core businesses, reduced fixed operat-

ing costs, raised equity and effectively managed its work-
ing capital. The cumulative effect of all these actions has 
been that the Company’s Net Funded Debt decreased to 
$9.6 million at December 31, 2011 compared to $16.7 mil-
lion at December 31, 2010 compared to $48.2 million at 
December 31, 2008.
The Company also actively invested in three strategic ini-
tiatives to accelerate the success of its transformational 
strategy: 
•	 Hired two experienced executives in the attractions 

business and funded the start-up costs of the new, 
wholly owned business unit called Dynamic Attrac-
tions. The mandate of this new subsidiary is to sell the 
Company’s proprietary media-based turn-key attrac-
tions to the global amusement park market.

•	 The Company’s aboriginal partnership in the oil sands 
region of Alberta, more than doubled its capacity by ac-
quiring Bartan Machine & Welding in the fall of 2011. 

•	 The Company invested $0.7 million to acquire a 45% 
equity interest in a Chinese steel fabrication joint 
venture.  This investment was financed by a $0.7 mil-
lion limited recourse loan from our Chinese majority 
partner.

Business Unit Initiatives
Our engineered product businesses focus on manufac-
turing high value added, proprietary products such as 
amusement ride systems, media-based attractions, hydro-
vac trucks, custom design/build equipment, observatory 
telescopes and bulk material handling equipment.  Many 
of the company’s products are globally competitive and 
exported around the world. 
Dynamic Structures continues to use its specialized en-
gineering skills and manufacturing competencies to cre-
ate innovative world-class design/build products across 
a broad range of end use applications. Early in 2011, the 
company was awarded a $9 million contract from one 
of the leading entertainment companies and in the first 
quarter of 2012, an additional $47 million in contract 
awards were added.
The incorporation of Dynamic Attractions in August of 
2011 and the hiring of two industry veterans to market 

2011 Summary of Financial Results



EMPIRE INDUSTRIES LTD. 2011 ANNUAL REPORT    3

2011 REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS CONTINUED...

the Company’s proprietary media based attractions, pro-
vide the Company with an exciting platform of growth 
with initial market penetration coming from the emerg-
ing markets in Asia, South Asia and the Middle East, mar-
kets where entertainment infrastructure is in its infancy 
and domestic demand growing rapidly because of the in-
creased affluence of the middle class. This new subsidiary 
has an impressive pipeline of outstanding proposals that 
we expect to turn into a robust backlog in 2012 and after.
We have consciously narrowed the focus of our steel fab-
rication and installation businesses to concentrate on steel 
fabrication for industrial and infrastructure applications 
in Western Canada, primarily the oil sands and mining. 
The Company has also significantly lowered its fixed 
operating costs and lowered its capital employed in the 
highly competitive steel fabrication market.  The com-
pany has retained a structural steel fabrication plant in 
Edmonton, a plate and pipe steel fabrication plant in 
Vancouver and a pressure vessel, tank and pipe shop in 
Winnipeg and has replaced capacity in Western Canada 
with comparable lower cost capacity in China. Import-
ing fabricating steel from China will take some time to 
accomplish but the quality standards and processes and 
training have already commenced.

The Company is also pleased to see steady progress from 
its First Nation partnership in Ft. McMurray where we 
have become the largest machine shop in this burgeon-
ing market and have now set our sights on becoming one 
of the largest steel fabricators and erectors in this rapidly 
growing market. 
The Company is excited about the prospects for its Chi-
nese joint venture. In August 2011, Dongguan Qiguang 
Dynamic Steel Structures Ltd. (“QDSL”) was incorporated 
with 55% being owned by the Qiguang Group and 45% by 
Empire. QDSL will enable Empire to actively participate 
in the robust Chinese steel fabrication market, which is 
the largest in the world, by using its existing leased 12,000 
square meter steel fabrication facility in Guangdong Prov-
ince and to put in place the quality certifications needed 
to export low cost, fabricated steel to Empire’s operations 
in Western Canada for deployment in the industrial con-
struction projects in Western Canada.
The Company’s backlog has grown steadily through-
out 2011 and into 2012.  The backlog at December 31, 
2010 was $19.5 million and this increased significantly 
to  $43 million at December 31, 2011 and $92 million as 
of March 31, 2012. 

The Company is well positioned to exploit global opportu-
nities for its engineered products, such as its record back-
log of orders for its hydrovac truck division and its propri-
etary media based attraction products. We also believe that 
the long term outlook for business capital expenditures in 
Western Canada is very positive and that our more focused 
and cost competitive steel fabrication capability will enable 
us to participate in this strengthening market.
The past three years have been challenging for the Com-
pany. The repositioning of the Company into higher mar-
gin engineered steel products and a low cost, high value 
added provider of fabricated steel will enable the Company 
to generate sustainable future profitability as it exploits its 
new, leaner, more cost competitive structure. Profits gener-
ated will be sheltered from tax through the availability of 
$21 million of loss carry forwards.

Management and the Board of Directors are confident that 
the restructuring and strategic repositioning initiatives 
that have been put in place have transformed the Company 
and will return it to profitability and growth in 2012 and 
will result in a return of shareholder value.  
We would like to thank those shareholders that remained 
with us over this difficult period for their patience.  We 
would like to welcome the new shareholders that have de-
cided to join us.  We would also like to thank our employ-
ees, management and directors who have also guided us 
through this transformational period and invested heavily 
in the program. It has been difficult and challenging for 
everyone, but we are confident the future is unfolding as 
planned.

Outlook

  Ian Macdonald               Guy Nelson 
Chairman of the Board   Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MANAGEMENT’S dISCUSSION ANd ANALYSIS
FOR ThE 3 ANd 12 MONThS ENdEd dECEMbER 31, 2011

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) 
of financial condition and results of operation of Empire Indus-
tries Ltd. (“EIL” or the “Group”) is supplemental to, and should 
be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial 
statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.  Ref-
erence should also be made to the annual MD&A for the year 
ended December 31, 2011.

The audited consolidated financial statements and accompany-
ing notes of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2011 
have been prepared in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and require management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported and dis-

closed in such financial statements and related notes. Unless oth-
erwise indicated, a reference to a year relates to the Group’s fiscal 
year ended December 31.  All amounts are reported in Canadian 
dollars unless specifically stated to the contrary.

The Board of Directors, on the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee, approved the contents of this MD&A on April 30, 
2012.  Disclosure contained in this document is current to this 
date, unless otherwise stated.

Additional information on EIL is available through the System 
for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at 
www.sedar.com

The Group’s operations take place primarily through the following wholly owned operating divisions:

Division Business

dynamic Structures design and manufacture complex ride systems, telescopes and custom machinery and equipment.  
Leased production facility is in Port Coquitlam, bC.

dynamic Attractions Turn key supplier of premium entertainment attractions and provider of parts and service of 
amusement park attractions.  Leased sales offices in Victoria, bC, Arlington, TX and Toronto, ON.

Tornado hydrovacs
Manufacture hydrovac trucks for excavation service providers to the oil and gas industry and the 
municipal market.  Leased production facility is in Stettler, Ab and a sales office located in Calgary, 
Ab.

Ward Industrial 
Equipment

design and fabrication of bulk material handling equipment and air cleaning equipment.  Owned 
production facility is in Welland, ON.

Parr Metal Fabricators Fabrication of tanks, pressure vessels and other specialty carbon and stainless steel products. 
Leased production facility is in Winnipeg, Mb.

Empire Iron Works
Structural steel fabrication and installation.  Two owned production facilities:  one in Winnipeg, Mb 
and one west of Edmonton, Ab.  The Winnipeg, Mb production facility was sold effective december 
31, 2011

hopkins Steel Works Structural steel fabrication.  Leased production facility is in Welland, ON.  This division was sold 
effective december 31, 2011.

KWh Constructors Structural steel installation and related construction services.  Leased facility is in burnaby, bC. This 
division was sold subsequent to december 31, 2011

Somerset Engineering Engineering services, particularly related to complex installation of structural steel.  Leased facility 
is in burnaby, bC. This division was sold subsequent to december 31, 2011

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED...

In addition to these wholly owned businesses, the Group holds significant equity interests in two major business enterprises:

Enterprise Business

Athabasca Chipewyan 
Empire (ACE) Industrial 
Services Ltd. (49%)

Steel fabrication and installation, machining, multi-trade industrial construction and 
maintenance services, primarily serving the oil sands market.  Facilities are in Fort McMurray, 
Ab.  This is a joint venture between the Athabasca Chipewyan First Nation business Group and 
Empire Industries Ltd.

dongguan Qiguang 
dynamic Steel Structures, 
Ltd. (45%)

Fabrication and installation of complex structural steel projects in China through a joint venture 
Company owned 55% by Guangdong Qiguang Steel Structures Co. Ltd. and 45% by Empire 
Industries Ltd. Incorporation was granted by Chinese authorities during 2011 and actual 
operations commenced on August of 2011 operating out of a leased facility in Guangdong 
Province.

EIL maintains its head office in Winnipeg, Manitoba.  The Group’s common shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange under 
the trading symbol EIL.

In the fourth quarter, the Group
•	 Closed one private placement of common shares for gross 

proceeds of $1.0 million and a subordinate convertible de-
benture placement for gross proceeds of $0.5 million.

•	 Completed the sale of two steel fabrication facilities, one in 
Winnipeg, Manitoba and one in Welland, Ontario.

•	 Settled $1.5 million of subordinate notes payable for cash 
consideration of $0.5 million.  The resulting gain of $1.0 mil-
lion is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income 
in the quarter.

•	 Commenced operations of Dynamic Attractions Ltd. in Can-
ada and Dynamic Attractions Inc. in Texas.  The incorpora-
tion of these entities was in conjunction with the Company’s 
increased focus on the amusement park and entertainment 
industry.  Dynamic Attractions will focus on being a turn 
key supplier of media based attractions as well as the supple-
mental parts and service side of the industry.

•	 Invested $0.7 million to acquire 45% interest in Qiguang 
Dynamic Structures Ltd. (QDSL) located in Dongguan, 
Guangdong P.R. China.  This investment is part of the 

Group’s strategy to penetrate the structural steel market for 
complex structures in China and was financed by a limited 
recourse loan from the controlling partner of QDSL, secured 
by the Group’s shares of QDSL, repayable from the Group’s 
share of profits of QDSL.

During the first nine months, the Group 
•	 Closed 2 private placements of common shares for gross 

proceeds of $4.1 million and a subordinate convertible de-
bentures placement for gross proceeds of $0.6 million.

•	 Settlement of $0.8M subordinated notes payable for $0.7 
million of redundant assets possessed by the Group.  The 
settlement resulted in gain of $0.1 million recorded in the 
Group’s statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent to December 31, 2011, the Group
•	 Sold its KWH Constructor’s Corp and Somerset Engineer-

ing divisions.  Consideration for the transaction was effected 
by a reduction of subordinated notes payable of $1.4 million 
resulting in a gain on the sale of $1.3 million realized in the 
first quarter of 2012.  

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED...

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS

In this MD&A, the Group uses two financial management met-
rics that are not in accordance with IFRS “Adjusted earnings 
(loss) before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (Ad-
justed EBITDA)” and “Adjusted Gross Margin” are not defined 
by IFRS and cannot be formally presented in the consolidated 
financial statements. The definition of Adjusted EBITDA does 
not take into account the Group’s share of profit of an associ-
ate investment, gains and losses on the disposal of assets, fair 
value changes in foreign currency forward contracts and non-
cash components of stock based compensation.  The Adjusted 

Gross Margin metric is the result of revenues less cost of sales, 
excluding depreciation of property, plant and equipment and 
amortization.  It should be noted that the Group’s definition of 
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Gross Margin may differ from 
those definitions used by other companies. 

While not IFRS measures, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted 
Gross Margin are used by management, creditors, analysts, in-
vestors and other financial stakeholders to assess the Group’s 
performance and management from a financial and operational 
perspective.

OPERATING RESULTS

Non-IFRS Methods

Periods ended December 31  Quarter ended    Twelve months ended
 2011 2010 Variance  2011 2010 Variance
($000’s, except for percentages) $ $ $  $ $ $
       
Operating Results:       
       
Revenues 12,805 8,328 4,477  55,418 50,002 5,416
Adjusted gross margin (1) 4% 1.7% 2.3%  8.9% 19.6% (10.7%)
Adjusted EbITdA (2) (1,493) (1,352) (141)  (3,302) 1,675 (4,977)
Adjusted EbITdA (16%) (16%) -  (7%) 3% (10%)
Net loss from continuing operations (1,728) (1,353) (375)  (6,231) (1,976) (4,255)
Net loss (879) (3,289) 2,410  (7,296) (9,275) 1,979
       
Per share data:       
       
Net loss from continuing operations (0.01) (0.01) -  (0.04) (0.02) (0.02)
Net loss (0.01) (0.04) (0.03)  (0.05) (0.10) 0.05
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED...

In the three month period ended December 31, 2011, the Group’s 
continuing operations had increased revenues of 54% over the 
comparative 3 month period ended December 31, 2010.  Adjust-
ed gross margins were 2.3% higher in the quarter compared to 
the same quarter in 2010 due primarily to the Group’s experienc-
ing a significant slowdown in the fourth quarter of 2010.  Despite 
that, during the three month periods ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010 the Group was operating well under its operational 
capacity, the result of which was lower adjusted gross margins 
than would otherwise be expected given the Group’s operating 
capacity. 

The Group’s selling, general and administrative expenses were 
$0.5 million higher than the same three-month period in 2010 
as a result of the commencement of operations of Dynamic At-
tractions Inc. and Dynamic Attractions Ltd, the hiring of key 

employees within operating divisions and certain other expenses 
that were was associated with the Group’s continued efforts to 
shift its focus to high value added steel fabrication and special-
ized manufacturing initiatives.

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations for the quarter 
ended December 31, 2011 declined by $0.1 million over the same 
period of 2010 which is the net effect of the factors discussed 
above.

Other income in the quarter of $1.1 million consists of a $1.0 mil-
lion gain on the settlement of subordinate notes payable and $0.1 
million as a net result of the disposal of certain items of property, 
plant and equipment.  Depreciation has declined by $0.1 million in 
the quarter compared to 2010 which has was the result of the dis-
posal of certain items of property, plant and equipment and man-
agement re-evaluating its useful life of certain depreciable assets.

Reconciliation Of Adjusted Ebitda To Net Loss

Fourth Quarter Analysis

Periods ended December 31  Quarter ended    Twelve months ended
 2011 2010 Variance  2011 2010 Variance
($000’s, except for per share amounts) $ $ $  $ $ $

Comprehensive income (loss)  
– continuing operations before taxes (1,525) (2,417) 892  (5,972) (2,664) (3,308)
Add/deduct: non cash ITC’s charged  
to selling, general and administrative  
expenses 558 (68) 626  558 (398) 956
Add: depreciation and amortization 371 433 (62)  1,825 1,710 115
Add/deduct: (Gain) loss on disposal  
of assets and other (income) loss (1,129) (132) (997)  (1,259) (1,326) 67
Add: Finance costs 379 488 (109)  1,397 1,611 (214)
Add/deduct Share of profit/loss of associate (181) 372 (553)  (93) (83) (10)
Add/deduct Fair value changes of foreign  
currency forward contracts - (102) 102  - 2,132 (2,132)
Add: non cash stock-based compensation 34 6 28  242 295 (53)
Adjusted EbITdA – continuing operations (1,493) (1,420) (73)  (3,302) 1,277 (4,579)

Calculation Of Adjusted Gross Margin

Periods ended December 31  Quarter ended    Twelve months ended
 2011 2010 Variance  2011 2010 Variance
($000’s, except for percentages) $ $ $  $ $ $

Revenues 12,805 8,238 4,567  55,418 50,002 5,416
Cost of sales excluding  
depreciation and amortization (12,295) (8,095) (4,200)  (50,479) (40,215) 
(10,264)Adjusted gross margin 510 143 367  4,939 9,787 (4,848)
% of revenue 4% 1.7% 2.3%  8.9% 19.6% (10.7%)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED...

Finance costs during quarter were $0.1 million lower than the 
same period of 2010 due mostly to lower overall debt levels.  
Share of (profit) loss from an associate represents the Group’s 
interest in ACE Industrial Services and Qiguang Dynamic Struc-
tures Ltd.  The Group did not have any outstanding foreign cur-
rency forward contracts at December 31, 2011 as opposed to the 
prior period. 

Stock-based compensation is the fair value derived from Black-
Scholes calculations performed on stock options issued, out-
standing and exercisable.

Investment tax credits charged to selling, general and administra-
tive expenses are the reciprocal amounts that have been charged 
through the Group’s tax provision.

Comprehensive loss from continuing operations before tax for 
the quarter improved by $0.9 million from the quarter ended De-
cember 31, 2010 as a result of the factors discussed above.

The Group’s comprehensive loss from continuing operations in 
the quarter included a charge of $0.3 million in the fourth quar-
ter of 2011 compared to a recovery of $1.1million in the same 
period of 2010.  

Revenues from continuing operations in 2011 increased by 
10.8% over 2010 while adjusted gross margin decreased by 
$4.8M during the period.  The decline in the Group’s adjusted 
gross margin during the period was a result competitive pricing 
pressures in the steel fabrication sector, and the Group realizing 
higher than normal adjusted gross margins in 2010 resulting 
from one significant contract.  While the Group did not oper-
ate at is normal capacity in both periods, the Group was able to 
offset the impact of that in 2010 with a significant contract with 
higher adjusted gross margins.

Selling, General and Administration expenses from continu-
ing operations for the 12 months ended December 31, 2011 
decreased by $0.2 million over the 12 months ended Decem-
ber 31, 2010. The increase of $0.5 million in the fourth quarter 
was offset by planned reductions during the first nine months of 
2011 of $0.7 million over 2010 as the company continued with 
its restructuring and refocusing its operations. 

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations for the year end-
ed December 31, 2011 declined by $4.6 million 2010 which is 
the net effect of the factors discussed above.

Depreciation of property plant and equipment and amortization 
of intangible assets from continuing operations for the 12 month 
period ended December 31, 2011 was consistent with the prior 
period with a modest increase in 2011 of $0.1 million which is 
reflective of decisions made by management on the useful lives 
of certain items of property, plant and equipment.

Other (income) losses from continuing operations in 2011 
consist of a non-recurring gain on the settlement of subordi-
nate notes payable of $1.0 million in the fourth quarter and the 
balance relates to net gains realized on the disposal of certain 
items of property plant and equipment also in the fourth quar-
ter.  2010 yielded consistent results in this category as the Group 
sold a patent for a gain of $1.2 million.

Finance costs from continuing operations represent interest on 
long term debt, subordinate notes payable, notes payable and 
revolving bank facility.  The lower interest costs in 2011 by $0.2 
million are primarily due to permanent reductions in overall 
debt levels from 2010 and the continued pay down of existing 
debt through 2011.

Share of profit (loss) from an associate represents the Company’s 
share of the equity earnings (loss) from its investment in ACE 
Industrial Services Ltd and Dongguan Qiguang Dynamic Struc-
tures Ltd.

Fair value changes of derivative instruments arise from the 
Company’s foreign exchange hedging strategy.  The Company 
enters into various contracts in U.S. dollars in the normal course 
of business.  Derivative instruments such as foreign exchange 
forward contracts are used by the Company to reduce its ex-
posure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  In 
the normal course, the Company does not hold or issue deriva-
tive financial instruments for derivative trading purposes.  The 
Company’s derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting and 
are therefore reported in earnings on a mark-to-market basis 
using closing market quotations.  At December 31, 2011, the 
Group did not have any outstanding foreign currency forward 
contracts.

Stock-based compensation is the fair value derived from Black-
Scholes calculations performed on stock options issued, out-
standing and exercisable. 

Investment tax credits charged to selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses are the reciprocal amounts that have been 
charged through the Group’s tax provision.

Comprehensive loss for the year from continuing operations de-
clined by $4.3 million from the year ended December 31, 2010 
as result of the net result of the factors discussed above.

The Group’s comprehensive loss from continuing operations 
during the year included a charge of $0.3 million compared to a 
recovery of $0.7 million in the same period of 2010.  

Fiscal 2011 Analysis
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Selected Annual Financial Information 2011 2010 2009 
For the years ended   
($000’s, except for per share amounts) IFRS IFRS GAAP

Sales 55,418 50,002 67,907
Net income (loss) (7,296) (9,275) (15,462)
Earnings (loss) per share   
 - basic (0.05) (0.10) (0.17)
 - diluted (0.05) (0.10) (0.17)
Total Assets 38,908 44,054 63,126
Total long-term financial liabilities 3,892 10,031 7,132
Cash dividends declared per common share - - -

SELECTED ANNUAL AND QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Selected Quarterly Financial Information 2011 2011 2011 2011  2010  2010  2010  2010
For the quarters ended Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
($000’s, except for per share amounts)  unaudited IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS

Sales 12,805 10,093 17,396 15,124 8,238 12,018 14,938 14,808
Net income (loss) (879) (2,828) (1,569) (2,020) (3,289) (1,683) (2,580) (1,723)
Earnings (loss) per share        
 - basic (0.01) (0.02) (0.01) (0.01) (0.03) (0.02) (0.03) (0.02)
 - diluted (0.01) (0.02) (0.01) (0.01) (0.03) (0.02) (0.03) (0.02)

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company’s continu-
ing operations used $5.5 million of cash and $1.7 million of cash 
was used in discontinued operations, compared with $0.3 mil-
lion of cash used in continuing operations and $5.7 million in 
cash used in discontinued operations through the 2010 exclud-
ing the impact of changes in non-cash working capital amounts.  
The use of cash by operations was more than offset by $6.2 
million of cash raised in private placements in the nine month 
period.  The Company expects that its operations will generate 
sufficient cash on a go forward basis to meet the Company’s ob-
ligations.  

The Company has a $10.0 million revolving credit facility with 
Canadian Western Bank, of which $7.2 million was drawn as of 
December 31, 2011.  The Company’s marginable assets at De-
cember 31, 2011 were $8.0 million which is $0.8 million in ex-
cess of the Company’s total draw on the operating line.

To ensure adequate liquidity in the short term, the Company has 
completed the following financing initiatives:

•	 private placement of common shares and warrants, raising 
$5.1 million during the year; 

•	 private placement of convertible debentures, raising $1.1 
million during the year;

•	 the Company continues to actively limit its capital spending 
program to sustaining capital expenditures.

The Company made $1.4 million of scheduled cash principal 
repayments during the year.  Total long-term debt of $10.5 mil-
lion (including capital lease obligations of $1.0 million) as at De-
cember 31, 2011 consisted of $5.3 million of long term debt due 
within 12 months, $1.6 million of long term debt due beyond 12 
months (all of which is currently classified as short term debt as 
a result of the Company failing to comply with one of its loan 
covenants), $2.0 million of subordinated notes, $0.7 million of a 
limited recourse loan and $0.9 million of subordinated convert-
ible debentures.  The subordinated notes payable are subordi-
nated and postponed to the Canadian Western Bank and cannot 

Liquidity
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be repaid while any Canadian Western Bank debt is outstanding 
($1.4 million of the balance was settled subsequent to the date of 
the consolidated financial statements as the company divested it 
interest in KWH Constructors Corp). 

Subsequent to December 31, 2011, the Group’s banking facil-
ity was reduced to $7.0M, which is still more than adequate to 
service the Group’s liquidity requirements as the group sold two 
steel fabrication facilities effective December 31, 2011 and two 
other operating divisions subsequent to December 31, 2011.

The retained deficit of $34.0 million at December 31, 2011 was 
$7.3 million higher than the retained deficit at December 31, 
2010 due to the net loss in the period.  No dividends were de-
clared or paid in the year.

The Company maintains a stock option plan for the benefit of 
officers, directors, key employees and consultants of the Com-

pany.  The Company had 11,124,000 outstanding options at De-
cember 31, 2011.  The average exercise price of the outstanding 
options is $0.20 per share.  Of these options, 5,679,000 are cur-
rently exercisable at an average exercise price of $0.29 per share.

Shareholders’ Equity

Market Capitalization

The market capitalization of the Company’s 193,239,608 issued 
and outstanding common shares at April 26, 2012 was $3.9 mil-
lion or $0.02 per share compared with the Company’s book 
value of $0.04 per share at December 31, 2011.  The issued and 

outstanding common shares at April 20, 2012, together with se-
curities convertible into common shares are summarized in the 
table below.

Fully Diluted Shares  
As at April 26, 2012  
Issued and outstanding common shares   193,239,608
  
Securities convertible into common shares  
 Convertible debentures 10,600,000 
 Finders Options (with attached warrants) 6,400,000 
 Warrants 77,000,000 
 Stock Options 10,666,000 
Total Securities convertible into common shares   104,666,000
Fully diluted Shares   297,905,608
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Financial Ratios December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
  
 bank indebtedness (cash), net 1,637 704
 bank operating lines 7,186 7,352
 Current portion of long-term debt           5,266             7,422
 Notes payable - 270
 Long-term debt  1,582 954
 Proceeds receivable from sales of assets (6,092) -
  
 Net funded debt 9,579 16,702
  
 Convertible debentures 903 60
 Subordinated notes and limited recourse loan 2,763 4,004
 Shareholders’ equity 7,662 9,741
 Less:  goodwill and intangibles - (224)
  
 Tangible net worth 11,328 13,581
  
 Capitalization 20,907 30,283
  
 Net funded debt : Capitalization 45.8% 55.2%

Financial Ratios

The following information is based on the data disclosed in Note 31 (Capital Disclosures and Management) from the 2011 audited 
Financial Statements:

The Company’s net funded debt of $9.6 million is $7.1 million 
lower than December 31, 2010 was achieved by a non-scheduled 
principal repayment of subordinated notes payable, the sale of 
items of property, plant and equipment and regular scheduled 
debt repayments.

The Company’s leverage ratio (net funded debt to capitalization) 
may fluctuate from month to month due to underlying cycli-
cal and seasonal variations in short-term debt used to finance 

working capital requirements.  The Company’s leverage ratio 
decreased to 45.8% from 55.2% at December 31, 2010.

The Company’s current ratio of 0.91 is improved from the De-
cember 31, 2010 ratio of 0.84 due to higher working capital vol-
umes and less long-term debt recorded as current liabilities. The 
Company was not in compliance with one of its bank covenants 
as of December 31, 2011.  Under IFRS presentation, this results 
in a re-classification of long term debt to current.
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The Group’s operations are performed in two main segments, Steel Fabrication Services and Manufacturing.  The performance of 
the groups operating segments are listed below:

SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

Steel Fabrication Services Segment  2011  2010  Variance
      
Sales $ 37,851 $ 37,021 $ 830
Cost of goods sold excluding depreciation  
and amortization  (35,005)  (28,733)  (6,272)
  
  2,846  8,288  (5,442)
      
Selling, general and administrative expenses  (7,516)  (6,886)  (630)
Stock-based compensation  (242)  (295)  53
      
  (4,912)  1,107  (6,019)
      
depreciation of property, plant and equipment  (1,245)  (1,252)  7
Amortization of intangible assets  -  -  -
      
  (6,157)  (145)  (6,012)
      
Other gains (losses)  1,263  85  1,178
Finance costs  (1,364)  (1,565)  201
Share of profit of associate  93  83  10
Gain (loss) on foreign currency forward contracts  -  (2,132)  2,132
      
Segmented (loss) income before income tax  
from continuing operations $ (6,165) $ (3,674) $ (2,491)
      
Segmented (loss) from discontinued operations  
net of tax (Note 5) $ (1,019) $ (3,833) $ 2,814

Consistent with the discussion above, revenues were essentially 
flat as compared to the prior year, however the competitiveness 
of the industry, unused fabrication capacity and a less favor-
able mix of sales yielded much lower margins.  Other gains and 
losses were a result of the Group realizing a gain of $1.0 million 

on the settlement of a subordinate note payable.  The group did 
not have any foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at 
December 31, 2011.  All other components were fairly consis-
tent with 2010.
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Manufacturing Segment  2011  2010  Variance
      
Sales $ 17,567 $ 12,981 $ 4,586
Cost of goods sold excluding depreciation  
and amortization  (15,474)  (11,482)  (3,992)
  
  2,093  1,499  1,404
      
Selling, general and administrative expenses  (1,283)  (1,226)  (57)
Stock-based compensation  -  -  
      
  810  273  537
      
depreciation of property, plant and equipment  (356)  (234)  (122)
Amortization of intangible assets  (224)  (224)  -
      
  230  (185)  415
      
Other gains (losses)  (4)  1,241  (1,245)
Finance costs  (33)  (46)  (13)
Share of profit of associate  -  -  
Gain (loss) on foreign currency forward contracts  -  -  
      
Segmented (loss) income before income tax  
from continuing operations $ 193 $ 1,010 $ (817)
      
Segmented (loss) from discontinued operations  
net of tax (Note 5) $ (46) $ (3,207) $ 3,161

OTHER MATTERS

Revenues and gross margin excluding depreciation and amortization has increased from the same period last year due to an in-
creased demand in the hydrovac trucks manufactured by the Group. All other components of the segment are consistent with 2010.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS 
necessitates the use of management estimates, assumptions 
and judgment that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Although man-
agement reviews its estimates on an ongoing basis, actual results 
may differ from these estimates as confirming events occur. 
The following components of the financial statements depend 
most heavily on such management estimates, assumptions and 
judgment, any changes in which may have a material impact on 
the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. For 

more information about certain assumptions and risks that may 
affect these estimates, assumptions and judgments, please see 
the “Forward Looking Information” section of this MD&A.

Revenue Recognition 

The percentage of completion method and the revenue to be rec-
ognized are determined on the basis of estimates for which the 
Group has implemented an internal financial budgeting and re-
porting system which relies on historical experience.  The Group 
reviews the estimates of contract revenue and contract costs as 
of each reporting date.  Contract losses are recognized as soon 
as they are identified.

Critical Accounting Estimates
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Valuation of Long-lived Assets and Asset Impairment

The Company periodically assesses the recoverability of values 
assigned to long-lived assets after considering potential impair-
ment indicated by such factors as business and market trends, 
future prospects, current market value and other economic fac-
tors. In performing its review of recoverability, management es-
timates the future cash flows expected to result from the use of 
the asset and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected 
future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, an 
impairment loss would be recognized based on the excess of the 
carrying value of the asset over the fair market value calculated 
using discounted future cash flows.

Deferred Income Taxes

The Group accounts for income taxes using the asset and li-
ability method.  Under this method, deferred tax assets and li-
abilities are recognized based on deductible or taxable tempo-
rary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of 
the assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using substantially enacted tax rates expected to apply 
in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to 
reverse.  If the estimates and assumptions are modified in the fu-
ture, the Group may be required to reduce or increase the value 
of deferred tax assets or liabilities resulting in, where applicable, 
an income tax expense or recovery.  The Group regularly evalu-
ates deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for financial reporting, 
and using January 1, 2010 as the transition date. The financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, including the 
corresponding comparative information, have been prepared 
in accordance with International Accounting Standard IFRS 1 
“First‐time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards” as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board 
(“IASB”). Previously, the Corporation prepared its interim and 

annual consolidated financial statements in accordance with Ca-
nadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). 
Unless otherwise noted, fiscal 2011 comparative information has 
been prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The adoption of IFRS has not had a significant impact on the 
Company’s operations, strategic decisions and cash flows. Further 
information on the IFRS impacts is provided in Note 36 to the 
Annual Consolidated Financial Statements (Transition to IFRS).

Changes in accounting policies

Related Party Transactions

Rent was paid to companies controlled by officers, directors and 
members of their families in the ordinary course of operations 
and based on fair market value.

During the year, the Company exited the lease and disposed of 
the surplus equipment related to its discontinued Trapp Avenue 
steel fabrication facility.  At the time of the transaction, one of 
the principals of the landlord and the purchaser was a director 
of Empire Industries Ltd.

EIL’s mix of businesses typically require significant financial re-
sources, and there is no assurance that future revenues will be 
sufficient to generate the funds required to continue EIL’s busi-
ness development and marketing activities. In certain markets, 

the Company competes with local, regional, national and inter-
national companies for work. With the experience of the Com-
pany’s operating subsidiaries, management believes it has devel-
oped systems, policies, and procedures to mitigate this risk.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Operating Results

Liquidity Requirements
The Company requires significant amounts of working capital 
in order to be able to operate. The Company’s contracts are pri-
marily based upon firm prices and billing is generally performed 
on a monthly basis. Projects often involve changes or requests 
for extra work and although the Company endeavors to bill 
promptly for this extra work, any delay in issuing change orders 

can impact cash flows. Construction projects typically allow for 
the general contractor to withhold between five and ten per-
cent of the Company’s total billings until the completion of the 
project. As a consequence, larger and longer-term projects can 
greatly increase capitalization requirements for working capital.
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The Company’s ability to obtain additional capital is a significant 
factor in achieving its strategy of expansion in the construction 
industry. There can be no assurance that the current working 
capital of EIL will be sufficient to enable it to implement all of 
its objectives. Furthermore, the current credit contraction in the 
world’s financial markets may limit the Company’s ability to ac-
cess credit in the event that it identifies a potential acquisition 
or some other business opportunity that would require a signifi-
cant investment in resources. There can be no assurance that if 

and when EIL seeks equity or debt financing, it will be able to 
obtain the required funding on favourable commercial terms, 
or at all. Any such future financing may also result in additional 
dilution to existing shareholders.

EIL requires sufficient financing to fund its operations. Failure 
to obtain financing on a timely basis could cause missed acqui-
sition opportunities, delays in expansion and may also impact 
ongoing operations.

Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may expe-
rience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill their commit-
ments to the Company. Notwithstanding the Company’s current 
credit policies and practices, there can be no assurance that 

customers will remain able to fulfill their commitments to the 
Company which may have an adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial performance.

Credit Risk

Fluctuations in interest rates will affect that portion of the Com-
pany’s debt that is subject to variable interest rates, and will also 
affect the prices for other financial instruments. Such fluctua-

tions could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial 
performance.

Interest Rate Risk

Rapid currency fluctuations can have a significant impact on 
un-hedged non-Canadian dollar denominated projects. The 
Company has exported some fabricated steel products over the 
years to the United States and the purchase of DSL and Petro-

field have increased the percentage of revenue from the United 
States, but a majority of these contracts have been hedged with 
forward contracts to sell US dollars.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Some customers require performance bonds underwritten by 
insurance providers, or irrevocable letters of credit as a con-
dition of contract award. However, there can be no assurance 

that the Company will be able to obtain such bonds or letters 
of credit.

Bonding Capacity

The principal cost of raw material is structural steel and other 
steel products. These supply and pricing arrangements are nego-
tiated directly with steel manufacturers or steel supply compa-
nies that buy and warehouse steel products. Where appropriate, 
the company will endeavour to include an escalation clause for 
material costs in jobs being tendered in the industrial, com-
mercial and institutional sector in each contract. In the absence 
of an escalation clause, the Company mitigates its risk, to the 

extent possible, through contracted buying arrangements or 
limitations on the length of time that bids can remain outstand-
ing prior to acceptance. In the circumstance of volatility in the 
commodity price of steel, unexpected increases in steel prices 
which are not hedged by escalation clauses or similar means, 
may negatively impact margins on a particular job and therefore 
the company’s future results of operations or financial position.

Cost Of Raw Material
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Most of EIL’s sales contracts are fixed-price contracts resulting 
from competitive bids. When bidding on a project, the Compa-
ny estimates its costs, including projected increases in the costs 
of labour, materials and services.

Despite these estimates, actual costs could vary from the es-
timated amounts. These variations could adversely affect the 

Company’s business. Any inability of the Company’s subsidiar-
ies to execute customer projects in accordance with require-
ments, including adherence to completion timetables, may have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operations 
and prospects.

Project Performance

The Company recognizes revenue from its fabrication and erec-
tion contracts using the percentage of completion accounting 
method, based on costs incurred as compared to projected costs. 
Estimated losses on contracts are immediately recognized. Rev-
enue estimates are based on management assumptions sup-

ported by historical experience. There can be no assurance that 
these estimates made during the contract execution phase will 
not vary from the actual results measured at the completion of 
the contract.

Percentage Of Completion Accounting Method

Competitors tend to be based in Western Canada and are vir-
tually all privately or family owned businesses. The Company’s 
approach to competitive risk is to develop strong relationships 
with clients, increase the breadth of services offered and to 
broaden our geographic coverage to enhance service and com-
petitiveness. From time to time, competitors out of the United 
States, Asia, Ontario and Quebec have bid on work and been 
awarded work in Western Canada. Incremental transportation 
costs, scheduling issues and quality standards have tended to 
make these options less attractive to owners and owners’ engi-
neers.

Due to the competitive nature of the business, the Company 
must compete on price and quality of service. A significant por-
tion of the Company’s business is to provide a contracted scope 
of work to clients on a fixed price or unit price basis. There can be 
no assurance that the fixed price commitment adequately recov-
ers the full cost of providing the contracted scope of work. Nor 
can there be any assurance that the contracted scope of work is 
so clear as to prevent disagreements over the interpretation of 
what has been contracted for. Management is of the view that 
the Company’s experience in the industry provides it with the 
necessary expertise to resolve disputes that may arise in a man-
ner that is satisfactory to the Company’s overall requirements.

Competitive Market

The current economic downturn has demonstrated that busi-
nesses and industries throughout the world are very tightly 
connected to each other. Thus, events seemingly unrelated to 
the Company, such as the recent extraordinary developments 
in global financial markets, may adversely affect the Company 
over the course of time. For example, the credit contraction in 
financial markets, combined with reduced economic activity, 
may adversely affect general contractors and other businesses 
that collectively constitute a significant portion of the Compa-

ny’s customer base. As a result, these customers may need to 
reduce their purchases of the Company’s products or services, 
or the Company may experience greater difficulty in receiv-
ing payment for the products or services that these customers 
purchase from the Company. Any of these events, or any other 
events caused by turmoil in world financial markets, may have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating 
results, and financial condition.

Global Economic Environment
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The demand for the Company’s products and services tends to 
fluctuate directly with non-residential construction activity. A 
decline in the demand for these products and services can oc-
cur if deteriorating economic conditions reduce non-residential 
capital expenditures which would have an adverse effect on the 
EIL’s business, results of operations, and financial condition.

A large portion of EIL’s revenues are derived from large projects 
(including joint ventures) which do not occur on a regular basis 
and could generate fluctuations in corporate revenues.

EIL’s business is primarily influenced by the overall level of capi-
tal spending in the mining and oil and gas industries in West-
ern Canada. Lower commodity prices results in lower corporate 
profits which provides less available funds for spending on capi-
tal projects. The Company’s activity level is therefore dependent 
on oil and gas prices and commodity prices.

Non-Residential Construction Activity In Western Canada

The business activities of the Company involve a certain degree 
of risk that even a combination of experience, knowledge and 
diligence may not be able to overcome. Shareholders must rely 
on the ability, expertise, judgment, direction and integrity of the 
management of EIL. Success will be dependent on the services 
of a number of key personnel, including its executive officers 

and other key employees, the loss of any one of whom could 
have an adverse effect on its operations and business prospects. 
The Company feels that by being a publicly traded company it 
will have more flexibility than its private competitors to imple-
ment attractive incentive plans for key employees to attract and 
retain the necessary employees.

Reliance On Key Personnel

The employment of skilled tradespersons in the field and shops 
is subject to multi-year, collective agreements with a variety of 
unions. The increasing shortage of skilled tradespersons is in-
creasing the wage expectations and concessions of all fabrica-
tors and manufacturers, especially those companies that provide 
their services closest to the active markets, such as Alberta. The 
Company has six non-union shops, and seven unionized shops 
that are subject to their own collective agreements and three dif-

ferent collective agreements relating to the field erection busi-
ness. EIL is at risk if there are labour disruptions relating to any 
of these collective agreements.

Management feels the staggering and independence of each col-
lective agreement mitigates the issue of work stoppage that may 
arise at any one location. The Company also believes it has fos-
tered a positive relationship with its workers as is evidenced by 
zero work stoppages in over 40 years of operations.

Labour Relations

The Company may seek to expand its business through acquisi-
tions and may divest underperforming or non-core businesses. 
Empire’s success depends, in part, upon management’s ability to 
identify such acquisition and divestiture opportunities and to 

negotiate favourable contractual terms. The Company’s ability 
to successfully integrate acquisitions into its operations could 
affect Empire’s financial results.

Acquisitions

EIL assesses the “labour/capital” trade-off that is associated with 
the increased usage of software to enhance employee produc-
tivity and increase profitability. Management has historically 
invested in prudent capital expenditures designed to mitigate 
the increasing cost of labour and the historically tight supply of 

skilled tradespersons. To the extent that the Company is unable 
to continue to invest in technological advancements designed to 
enhance its competitive cost structure, it may have an adverse 
effect on the Company’s operations

Technological Change
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Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expected to 
result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger fines and li-
ability and potentially increased capital expenditures and oper-
ating costs. No assurance can be given that environmental laws 
will not result in an increase in the costs of the Company’s activi-
ties or otherwise adversely affect the Company’s financial condi-
tion, results of operations or prospects.

EIL maintains insurance consistent with industry practice to 
protect against losses due to sudden and accidental environ-

mental contamination, accidental destruction of assets, and 
other operating accidents or disruption. The Company also has 
operational and emergency response procedures, and safety 
and environmental programs in place to reduce potential loss 
exposure. EIL believes that it is in substantial compliance, in all 
material respects, with all current environmental legislation and 
is taking such steps as it believes are prudent to ensure that com-
pliance will be maintained.

This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking statements.” All 
statements, other than statements of historical fact, that address 
activities, events or developments that the Company believes, 
expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future (includ-
ing, without limitation, statements regarding financial and 
business prospects and financial outlook) are forward looking 
statements. These forward-looking statements reflect the cur-
rent expectations or beliefs of the Company, based on infor-
mation currently available to the Company. Forward-looking 
statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions that may cause the actual results of the Company 
to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-look-
ing statements and, even if such actual results are realized or 
substantially realized, there can be no assurance that they will 
have the expected consequences to, or effects on the Company. 

Factors that could cause actual results or events to differ ma-
terially from current expectations include, among other things, 
changes in general economic and market conditions, changes to 
regulations affecting the Company’s activities, and uncertainties 
relating to the availability and costs of financing needed in the 
future. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as at the date 
on which it is made and, except as may be required by applicable 
securities laws, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation 
to update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result 
of new information, future events or results or otherwise. Al-
though the Company believes that the assumptions inherent in 
the forward-looking statements are reasonable, forward looking 
statements are not guarantees of future performance and, ac-
cordingly, undue reliance should not be put on such statements 
due to the inherent uncertainty therein.

Environment/Regulatory

Forward Looking Information

IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on 
the replacement of the existing standard for financial instru-
ments [IAS 39] and applies to classification and measurement 
of financial assets as defined in IAS 39.  The standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  In 
subsequent phases, the IASB will address classification and mea-

surement of financial liabilities, hedge accounting and derecog-
nition.  The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an 
effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s fi-
nancial assets.  The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction 
with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive 
picture.

FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification And Measurement
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IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Sepa-
rate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for con-
solidated financial statements. It also includes the issues raised 
in SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. What re-
mains in IAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly 
controlled entities, and associates in separate financial state-
ments. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to 

all entities. The changes introduced by IFRS 10 will require man-
agement to exercise significant judgement to determine which 
entities are controlled, and therefore are required to be consoli-
dated by a parent, compared with the requirements that were in 
IAS 27. IFRS 10 is effective for annual periods commencing on 
or after January 1, 2013. The Group is currently in the process of 
evaluating the implications of this new standard, if any. 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in 
IAS 27 related to consolidated financial statements, as well as all 
of the disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 and 
IAS 28 Investment in Associates. These disclosures relate to an 
entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates 
and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are also re-
quired. One of the most significant changes introduced by IFRS 

12 is that an entity is now required to disclose the judgements 
made to determine whether it controls another entity. IFRS 12 
is effective for annual periods commencing on or after January 
1, 2013. The Group is currently in the process of evaluating the 
implications of this new standard, which will be limited to dis-
closure requirements for the financial statements. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure Of Interests In Other Entities

IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair 
value, but rather, provides guidance on how to measure the fair 
value of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities when 
required or permitted by IFRS. While many of the concepts in 
IFRS 13 are consistent with current practice, certain principles, 
such as the prohibition on blockage discounts for all fair value 
measurements, could have a significant effect. The disclosure 

requirements are substantial and could present additional chal-
lenges. 

IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods commencing on or after 
January 1, 2013 and will be applied prospectively. The Group is 
currently in the process of evaluating the implications of this 
new standard. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, 
issued by the IASB in June 2011, requires companies preparing 
financial statements to group together items within other com-
prehensive income (“OCI”) on the basis of whether they may 

be reclassified to the profit or loss section of the statement of 
comprehensive income. The amendments also reaffirm existing 
requirements that items in OCI and profit or loss should be pre-
sented as either a single statement or two consecutive statements.

IAS 1 Presentation Of Financial Statements

IAS 12 removes subjectivity in determining which basis an entity 
measures the deferred tax relating to an asset. The amendment 
introduces a presumption that an entity will assess whether the 

carrying value of an asset will be recovered through the sale of 
the asset. The amendment to IAS 12 is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012. 

IAS 12 Income Taxes
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED...

OUTLOOK

In addition to other sections of the Company’s report, this sec-
tion contains forward-looking information and actual outcomes 
may differ materially from those expressed or implied therein.  
For more information, see the section titled “Forward-Looking 
Information” in this MD&A.

The Group’s backlog continues to grow as the economy strength-
ens and Empire’s contract awards increase.  For example, back-
log at December 31, 2010 of $19.5 million and it increased to 
$43 million as of December 31, 2011 and currently stands at $92 
million at March 31, 2012.

The Group expects to return to profitability in 2012. There are 
several reasons for this: the Group has transformed its business 
mission into producing and selling high value added products 
and services; the Group has significantly reduced its capital in-
vestment and overhead commitment to domestic steel fabrica-
tion capacity greatly reducing our break-even for this business 
unit and finally because the Group has focused its market pur-
suit to industrial projects in Alberta and BC and complex struc-
tural and mechanical projects anywhere employing our globally 
competitive turn-key capabilities.

The steel fabrication capacity sold or shut in Western Canada in 
the past three years has been replaced with very cost competitive 
fabrication capacity in China. The Group is going through an 
extensive quality training and certification process of its Chi-
nese joint venture, that, when complete, will allow the Group 
to leverage its Chinese joint venture’s low cost and high quality 
fabrication facility and dovetail this into Empire’s active partici-
pation in the Alberta industrial steel fabrication and installation 
market. The steel fabrication market is expected to be very ro-
bust over the next decade but also price sensitive. In addition to 
importing low cost, high quality fabricated steel from its Chi-
nese steel fabrication facility (QDSL), with the Group’s technical 
skills, we are well positioned to participate in the value added 
steel fabrication segment of the Chinese construction market 
through our investment in QDSL.

The Group continues to direct its focus and its marketing ef-
forts towards penetrating the higher value added, engineered 
products segment. With respect to the manufacturing segment, 
the Group’s Hydrovac Truck division continues to operate at full 
capacity and has a strong backlog for 2012 and into 2013. It has 
made process improvements and personnel changes all of which 

have helped to improve this division’s profitability.  Additional 
changes are underway to increase its monthly manufacturing 
capacity. 

The Group has incorporated a new subsidiary called Dynamic 
Attractions and officially launched it at the 2011 industry trade 
show in Orlando in November of 2011. During the past three 
years, the Group invested heavily in producing a world class 
product line of media based attractions, all of which was con-
servatively expensed and not capitalized.  The Group expects 
strong demand for its innovative products that it has created, 
based upon a rapidly growing market to purchase media based 
attractions globally.  Dynamic Attractions has also commenced 
a parts and service business for the theme park market. We ex-
pect this division to provide a steady and growing profit stream 
throughout 2012 and beyond.

The Group’s unique aboriginal partnership with the Athabasca 
Chipewyan First Nation in Fort McMurray is called ACE In-
dustrial Services. ACE provides machine shop, fabrication and 
erection maintenance services to Alberta’s oil sands producers. 
ACE continued to invest in expanding its capacity by acquir-
ing Bartan Machine and Welding during 2011. This acquisition 
firmly puts ACE as the leading machine shop services provider 
to the oil sands market place. It also has allowed ACE to reorga-
nize its operations by doubling its shop capacity in Ft. McMur-
ray, Alberta.  Management believes that the outlook for ACE is 
positive in 2012 and beyond, tied to the steadily growing pace 
of outsourced maintenance services in the oil sands area of Al-
berta, with a particular focus on the oil sands maintenance mar-
ket through leveraging our unique Aboriginal partnership in the 
Wood Buffalo Region.

The Group has been aggressive in its pursuit of lowering its $47 
million of senior secured debt at December 31, 2008 through 
asset sales, divestiture and closing of unprofitable non-core 
business units. At December 31, 2011 this senior secured debt 
amount had been reduced to $10.5 million and as the company 
returns to profitability we expect the debt level to continue to 
decrease. 

With its significant increase in backlog the Group expects to 
return profitability, continue to improve its balance sheet and 
enjoy a higher margin from a better mix of business due to the 
transformative structural changes the Group has implemented.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT 
TO ThE ShAREhOLdERS OF EMPIRE INdUSTRIES LTd.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Empire 
Industries Ltd. contained in this annual report, including the 
notes thereto, have been prepared by management in accordance 
with the Company’s accounting policies, that are in compliance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  In 
addition, the financial information contained elsewhere in this 
Annual Report is consistent with the financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the financial statements 
included in this annual report.  The Audit Committee reviewed 
the contents of the consolidated financial statements with 

management and the independent auditor prior to their 
approval by the Board of Directors.  The independent auditor 
discussed their audit work with the Committee.

Management has overall responsibility for internal controls 
and maintains accounting control systems designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, 
assets safeguarded and that the financial records form a reliable 
base for the preparation of accurate and timely financial 
information.

Guy Nelson, MBA, B.Comm. Campbell McIntyre, CA 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

April 30, 2012
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INdEPENdENT AUdITORS REPORT 
TO ThE ShAREhOLdERS OF EMPIRE INdUSTRIES LTd.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Empire Industries Ltd. and its subsidiaries,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011, December 31,
2010 and January 1, 2010 and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), changes in
shareholders’ equity and of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT CONTINUED...

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Empire Industries Ltd. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and
January 1, 2010 and their financial performance and their cash flows for the years ended December 31,
2011 and December 31, 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements which
indicates that the Company is in breach of certain debt covenants. These conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Winnipeg, Manitoba
April 19, 2012
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 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
    
For the years ended december 31  Notes 2011 2010
(In $000’s CAd, except per-share amounts)   $                      $
    
    
Revenues (1)     55,418   50,002 
    
Cost of sales, excluding depreciation and amortization (2)  25  (50,479)  (40,215)
Gross Profit, excluding depreciation and amortization    4,939   9,787 
    
Selling and administrative expenses  26  (8,799)  (8,112)
Result before the following:    (3,860)  1,675 
    
Stock-based compensation  23  (242)  (295)
depreciation of property, plant and equipment  14  (1,601)  (1,486)
Amortization of intangible assets  15  (224)  (224)
Other income (loss)  27  1,259   1,326 
Finance costs   28  (1,397)  (1,611)
Share of profit from associates  16  93   83 
Loss on foreign currency forward contracts    —   (2,132)
Net loss from continuing operations before tax    (5,972)  (2,664)
    
Income tax (expense) recovery    
 Current  29  (479)  (630)
 deferred  29  220   1,318 
     (259)  688 
    
Net loss from continuing operations    (6,231)  (1,976)
    
Net loss from discontinued operations, after tax   7  (1,065)  (7,299)
    
    
Net loss     (7,296)  (9,275)
    
    
Loss per share - basic  6  (0.05)  (0.10)
Loss per share - diluted  6  (0.05)  (0.10)
    
Loss per share from continuing operations    
Loss per share - basic  6  (0.04)  (0.02)
Loss per share - diluted  6  (0.04)  (0.02)
    

(1) Included in sales are foreign exchange gains of $207 for the year ended december 31, 2011 and $2,268 for the year    
 ended december 31, 2010   
(2) Cost of sales including depreciation and amortization was ($51,931) for the year ended december 31, 2011 and    
 ($41,302) for the year ended December 31, 2010   

    
See accompanying notes    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
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  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
     
As at  Notes 31-Dec-11 31-Dec-10 1-Jan-10
(In $000’s CAd)  $  $           $
ASSETS     
Current assets     
 Cash and cash equivalents   642   40   2,674 
 Accounts receivable 8  15,262   18,988   18,340 
 Proceeds receivable 9  6,092   —   — 
 Inventory 11  3,847   5,039   8,071 
 Prepaid expenses and other assets   509   489   909 
 Current income taxes receivable   —   14   59 
 Foreign currency forward contracts 12  —   101   2,233 
Total current assets  26,352   24,671   32,286 
 Non-current assets held for sale 13  —   674   — 
Non-current assets     
 Property, plant and equipment, net 14  9,914   16,003   20,870 
 Intangible assets, net 15  —   224   455 
 Other non-current assets 17  169   184   137 
 Investment in associates 16  2,102   1,279   1,196 
 Advances to related party 16  341   314   291 
 Long-term investments classified as available for sale   30   30   105 
 deferred tax asset 29  —   675   156 
Total non-current assets  12,556   18,709   23,210 
Total assets  38,908   44,054   55,496 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Current liabilities     
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18  11,071   12,665   11,095 
 Current income taxes payable   196   167   195 
 bank indebtedness 19  2,279   744   — 
 bank operating lines 19  7,186   7,352   13,739 
 Current portion of long-term debt 20  5,266   1,549   1,634 
 Long-term debt classified as current 20  1,582   5,873   1,529 
 Current portion of notes payable 21  1,356   1,070   1,997 
 Current portion of convertible debentures 22  —   60   — 
Total current liabilities  28,936   29,480   30,189 
Non-current liabilities     
 Long-term debt 20  —   954   1,738 
 Notes payable and limited recourse loan 21  1,407   3,204   3,811 
 Convertible debentures 22  903   —   54 
 deferred tax liability 29  —   675   983 
Total non-current liabilities  2,310   4,833   6,586 

Total liabilities  31,246   34,313   36,775 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
 Capital Stock 23  39,538   34,720   34,720 
 Equity component of convertible debentures 22  157   —   6 
 Contributed surplus 23  1,995   1,753   1,452 
 Retained deficit   (34,028)  (26,732)  (17,457)
Total shareholders’ equity   7,662   9,741   18,721 
     
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  38,908   44,054   55,496 

Guarantees and contingencies [note 35]     
Going concern basis of presentation [note 2]     
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements    
 
On behalf of the board of directors:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Guy Nelson 
director

Ian Macdonald 
 director 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
      
As at december 31, 2011     
 Share Equity  Contributed Retained Total 
 capital  component surplus  deficit equity 
  of convertible  
  debentures
(In $000’s CAd) $ $ $ $ $
     
As at December 31, 2010  34,720   —   1,753   (26,732)  9,741 
Net loss for the year  —   —   —   (7,296)  (7,296)
Issuance of subordinated convertible debentures [note 22]  —   157   —   —   157 
Issuance of shares [net of transaction costs of $282]  4,818   —   —   —   4,818 
Stock-based compensation  —   —   242   —   242 

As at December 31, 2011  39,538   157   1,995   (34,028)  7,662 
     
     
     
As at december 31, 2010     
 Share Equity  Contributed Retained Total 
 capital  component surplus  deficit equity 
  of convertible  
  debentures
(In $000’s CAd) $ $ $ $ $
     
As at January 1, 2010  34,720   6   1,452   (17,457)  18,721 
Net loss for the year  —   —   —   (9,275)  (9,275)
Conversion of debentures [note 22]  —   (6)  6   —   — 
Stock-based compensation  —   —   295   —   295 

As at December 31, 2010  34,720   —   1,753   (26,732)  9,741 
     
See accompanying notes     

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
    
     Twelve months ended December 31 
(In $000’s CAd, except per-share amounts)   2011 2010
   $                   $
OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Net loss from continuing operations    (6,231)  (1,976)
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash    
depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment    1,601   1,486 
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets    224   224 
Amortization of deferred financing charges    41   175 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets    (255)  (1,153)
Income from equity accounted investments    (93)  (83)
Impairment loss on available for sale investments    —   75 
Non-cash component of interest expense    310   264 
Stock-based compensation    242   295 
Fair value changes on foreign currency forward contracts    —   2,132 
Non-cash gain on settlement of subordinated notes payable    (1,008)  — 
Investment tax credits    —   173 
deferred income taxes    (293)  (1,736)
    
Cash flow from (used in) continuing operations    (5,462)  (124)
    
Cash flow used in discontinued operations    (1,656)  (5,668)
    
Net change in non-cash working capital balances    3,144   4,869 
    
Cash flow from (used in) operating activities    (3,974)  (923)
    
INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment    (303)  (171)
Acquisition of other long term assets    (26)  (167)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    —   351 
Proceeds from the sale of intangible assets    —   1,200 
Acquisition of investment in QdSL    (730)  — 
    
Cash flow from (used in) investing activities of continuing operations    (1,059)  1,213 
    
Cash flow from (used in) investing activities of discontinued operations    (110)  957 
    
Cash flow from (used in) investing activities    (1,169)  2,170 
    
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Issue of convertible debt    1,060   — 
Issue of shares [net of transaction costs of $282]    4,818   — 
Proceeds from non-recourse loan    730   — 
Repayment of convertible debt    (60)  — 
Issue of long-term debt    —   7,505 
decrease in bank operating lines    (166)  (6,387)
Repayment of long term debt    (1,387)  (3,908)
Repayment of notes payable (Note 21)    (500)  (1,600)
    
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities of continuing operations    4,495   (4,390)
    
Cash flow used in financing activities of discontinued operations    (285)  (235)
    
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities    4,210   (4,625)
    
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents during the period    (933)  (3,378)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    (704)  2,674 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    (1,637)  (704)
    
Supplementary cash flow information     
Interest Paid    1,042  1,572
Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of:    
Cash    642   40 
bank indebtedness    (2,279)  (744)
   (1,637)  (704)
See accompanying notes    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIdATEd FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
dECEMbER 31, 2011 ANd 2010

Amounts Reported In Thousands (000’s) Except Per Share Amounts

Corporate information
Empire Industries Ltd. (“Empire”) designs, fabricates, manufactures, erects and sells proprietary engineered products throughout 
the world. Key customer sectors include the entertainment industry, natural resource infrastructure, manufacturing, and processing 
industries, excavation industry, and the government sector. Empire also provides fabrication and installation services to industrial 
and infrastructure markets, primarily in western Canada. It also participates in the market for oil sands maintenance services 
through its 49% ownership of its aboriginal partnership.

Empire Industries Ltd. is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange’s venture exchange (“EIL”) and is incorporated under the Business 
Corporations Act of Alberta, Canada. The head office is located at 717 Jarvis Avenue, Winnipeg Manitoba, R2W 3B4.

The consolidated financial statements were recommended for approval by the Audit Committee on April 19, 2012 and were ap-
proved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on April 30, 2012.

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the period ended December 31, 2011 and include the results for the period 
ended December 31, 2010 and the statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010.  The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value as disclosed.  
Included in these consolidated financial statements are the accounts for Empire and all of its subsidiaries (the “Group”).  These con-
solidated financial statements have been prepared in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the Group.

Going concern basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management on a going concern basis in accordance with IFRS.  The 
going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Group will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. If the going concern basis of ac-
counting is not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value 
of assets and liabilities, the reported revenues and expenses and the statement of financial position classifications used and such 
adjustments could be material.

The Group’s debt obligations are described in notes 19, 20, 21 and 22, some of which are subject to financial covenants that are based 
on recognized assets and liabilities, operating results and the amount of debt obligations outstanding.  The Group was not in compli-
ance with one of its financial covenants at December 31, 2011 (note 31).  In addition, the Group’s ability to maintain compliance with 
its other financial covenants in the future is dependent upon various factors, some of which are outside the control of the Group.

Based on uncertainties associated with the Group’s ability to meet its current operating projections which could be impacted by, but 
not limited to, negative cash flow from operations, the possibility of higher interest rates, commodity price increases, curtailment 
of industrial or institutional capital spending, credit losses, access to bonding or a combination of these factors, the Group may be 
unable to achieve compliance with its financial covenants in the future.  Failure to maintain compliance with financial covenants 
under the Group’s credit facilities could result in default, permitting its lender to demand all amounts outstanding under the lending 
agreement.  These circumstances may lend significant doubt to the ability of the Group to meet its obligations as they come due and 
accordingly, the use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern may not be appropriate.

To meet these potential demands, the Group has generated additional cash flows through the sale of two operating divisions (note 
7), and the sale of certain items of property, plant and equipment (note 9).  Subsequent to December 31, 2011 the Group, renewed its 
credit facility (note 36).  The Group is proactively looking at all available alternatives in implementing the Group’s plans.  The Group 
continues to aggressively pursue strategies to improve operating results, cash flows and capital structure in order to ensure the avail-
ability of funds to continue to meet its obligations.  However, there can be no assurance as to their outcome or success.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Transition to IFRS and statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), particularly IFRS 
1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”. The first application date for IFRS is January 1, 2010. In 
compliance with IFRS, the Corporation has:

1.

2.

3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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•	provided	additional	comparative	financial	information; 
•	used	consistent	policies	throughout	all	reporting	periods; 
•	applied	retrospectively	all	IFRS’s	effective	as	at	December	31,	2011,	as	required; 
•	applied	certain	optional	exemptions	and	certain	mandatory	exceptions	concerning	first-time	adoption	of	IFRS.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements were previously prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles(GAAP). Canadian GAAP differs from IFRS in certain respects. When preparing these IFRS financial statements, man-
agement made changes to certain recognition and measurement methods that it previously applied to prepare financial statements 
according to Canadian GAAP.  Note 36 includes a reconciliation of equity, comprehensive income (loss) under Canadian GAAP and 
IFRS, as well as a description of the impact of the changeover from Canadian GAAP to IFRS on these items. Note 36 also presents a 
reconciliation of each of the statement of financial position items as at January 1, 2010, and December 31, 2010, and of net loss and 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Empire Industries Ltd. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Empire 
Iron Works Ltd., 0812484 BC Ltd (formerly George Third & Son Ltd.), Dynamic Attractions Ltd. and Dynamic Attractions Inc.. 
The consolidated financial statements furthermore include subsidiaries of the wholly-owned subsidiaries: KWH Constructors Inc. 
(WS, USA); and 1366377 Texas Inc. (formerly Tornado Technologies, Inc., TX, USA). The Group equity accounts for its investments 
in ACE Industrial Services and its subsidiaries Lemax Machine and Welding Inc. and Bartan Machine and Welding Co Ltd. (AB, 
Canada “ACE”) and Qiguang Dynamic Structures Ltd (Dongguan, Guangdong P.R. China “QDSL”).

Until December 31, 2010, the consolidated financial statements included the accounts of Empire Industries Ltd. and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, Empire Iron Works Ltd., George Third & Son Ltd., Dynamic Structures Ltd., Petrofield Industries Inc. (formerly 
Tornado Technologies Inc.), and its 49% investment in ACE. Empire Iron Works Ltd. included the accounts of Parr Metal Fabrica-
tors Ltd., Hopkins Steel Works Ltd and Ward Industrial Equipment Ltd. George Third & Son Ltd included the accounts of KWH 
Constructors Inc. (WS, USA).  Petrofield Industries Inc. included the accounts of 1366377 Texas Inc. (formerly Tornado Tech-
nologies Inc., TX, USA) and Dynamic Structures Ltd. included the accounts of two 50% joint ventures with AMEC International 
(Canada) Ltd.

On January 1, 2011 the Group amalgamated Petrofield Industries Inc., Empire Iron Works Ltd., Ward Industrial Equipment Ltd., 
Parr Metal Fabricators Ltd., Hopkins Steel Works Limited and Dynamic Structures Ltd into one operating company called Empire 
Iron Works Ltd. The operations of George Third & Son were discontinued in 2010 (Note 7).

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to 
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same report-
ing period as the Group, using consistent accounting policies.  All intra-company balances, income and expenses and unrealized 
gains and losses resulting from intra-company transactions are eliminated in full.

Subsequent to the date of the statement of financial position, the Group disposed of its KWH Constructors Corp business (note 35).

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of 
the assets given, equity instruments and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition costs for business com-
binations are expensed and included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair value at the date of acquisition.

Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual agreement whereby the Group agrees with other parties to undertake an economic activity that is 
subject to joint control, i.e. strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the joint venture’s activities require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method.

Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence (i.e. the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the associate) but not control or joint control.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method.  The share of income (loss) of associates is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) and its share of other comprehensive income (loss) of associates is included 
in other comprehensive income (loss).

Foreign currency translation
The reporting currency for the consolidated financial statements is the Canadian dollar.  For subsidiaries in the Group whose func-
tional currency is not the Canadian dollar, their results are translated into Canadian dollars as follows:
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•	assets	and	liabilities	are	translated	into	Canadian	dollars	at	the	exchange	rate	in	effect	on	the	statement	of	financial	 
   position date, 
•	results	of	operations	are	translated	into	Canadian	dollars	at	the	average	monthly	exchange	rate; 
•	foreign	exchange	differences	arising	from	exchange	rate	fluctuations	are	accounted	for	in	comprehensive	income	 
   (loss) and equity.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction.  
Gains or losses resulting from the translations are recognized in comprehensive income (loss).  Monetary items are translated at 
the Canadian dollar spot rate as of the reporting date.  Exchange differences from monetary items are recognized in comprehensive 
income (loss).  Non monetary items that are not carried at fair value are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the 
initial transaction.  Non monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value is determined.

Revenue recognition
Revenues are recorded according to IAS 11, “Construction Contracts”, when the criteria are satisfied; otherwise, revenues are re-
corded in accordance with IAS 18, “Revenue”.  A construction contract is a contract specifically negotiated for the construction of 
an asset or a combination of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and function 
or their ultimate purpose or use.

Revenues from construction contracts are determined on the percentage of completion method, based on the ratio of costs incurred 
to date over estimated total costs.  Contract costs include all direct material and labour costs.  Provisions are recorded for antici-
pated contract losses as soon as they are evident.  Contract revenues and costs are adjusted to reflect change orders that have been 
approved as to both price and scope.  For change orders that have not been approved as to price or are un-priced, contract revenues 
and projected costs to complete are estimated by management.  In circumstances where significant advance purchases under a con-
tract, such as materials, would result in a materially higher percentage of completion estimate for sales, gross profit and accounts 
receivable than indicated by other measures such as labour hours, management adjusts the percentage of completion to the lower 
level indicated by the alternative measure.

Revenues from the design, fabrication and installation of equipment are recorded when the products are completed and accepted 
by the customer or the services are rendered and collection is reasonably assured.  Any foreseeable losses on contracts are charged 
to operations at the time they become evident.  Revenues from the sale of used equipment are recognized when title passes from 
the Group to its customers and collection is reasonably assured.  Revenues from operating leases are recognized over the lease term 
including estimated renewal periods.

Income taxes

Tax expense is comprised of two components; current tax expense and deferred tax expense.

Current tax 
Recoverable tax assets or current tax liabilities represent the tax authorities’ obligations or claims for prior or current periods which 
are not received or paid at the end of the reporting period.  Current tax is based on taxable income which differs from accounting 
income by definition.  Recoverable tax assets or current tax liabilities are measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is determined based on differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the calculation of taxable income.  Deferred tax assets or liabilities are measured based on 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period, and that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized for all deductible or taxable temporary differences arising if it is probable that the 
temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and that taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
difference(s) can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current 
income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be com-
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mitted to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of clas-
sification.

In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period, income and expenses 
from discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from continuing operations, down to the level of 
profit after taxes.  In the consolidated statement of financial position, non-current assets held for sale have been separately identified. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortized.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of any accumulated depreciation, impairment losses andsubsequent reversals 
(if any).  Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings  25 years 
Machinery and equipment (“M&E”) 5 to 15 years 
Vehicles 3 to 7 years 
Office furniture and equipment (“Office Equip”) 5 to 10 years 
Parking lots 10 years 
Leasehold improvements Over the lease period

The assets’ useful lives, residual values and methods of depreciation of assets are reviewed annually, and adjusted prospectively, if 
appropriate.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.  The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination is its fair value at the date of acquisition.  Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any ac-
cumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.  Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis and were 
fully amortized during the period.

Leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the mini-
mum lease payments.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are recognized in finance costs in the statement 
of comprehensive income (loss).

Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset.  However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease 
term.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial 
period of time, which the Group considers to be 12 months or more, to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of 
the cost of the respective assets.  All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest 
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that the non-current assets have been im-
paired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. An impairment loss is recognized in profit 
or loss when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group determines the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use. In the measurement of the value in use, estimates of future cash flows are discounted at their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
estimates of cash flows have not been adjusted.

Cash and cash equivalents
All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to 
be cash equivalents.  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...



EMPIRE INDUSTRIES LTD. 2011 ANNUAL REPORT    33

Inventory
Inventory is comprised of raw materials, work in progress and finished goods.  Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net re-
alizable value, using an average cost basis.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.  When the circumstances that previously caused 
inventories to be written down below cost no longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in selling prices, the amount 
of the write down previously recorded is reversed.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently recognized according to their classification.  The 
classification depends on the intention with which the financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics.  Unless specific 
circumstances permitted under IFRS are present, the classification is not modified after initial recognition.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss [“FVTPL”]
Financial instruments classified as assets or liabilities held for trading are recognized at fair value at each balance sheet date, and any 
change in the fair value is reflected in profit or loss in the period during which these changes take place.

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities
Financial instruments classified as loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are accounted for at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  Interest income or expense is included in profit or loss over the expected life of the financial instru-
ment.

Available for sale assets
Financial instruments classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value, and the gains/losses resulting from the revaluation 
at the end of each period are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).  Securities classified as available-for-sale and whose 
fair value cannot be recorded in a reliable manner are recognized at cost.  Available for sale securities are reduced to fair value when 
it is necessary to reflect a permanent decline in value.  Upon derecognition, all cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are reflected in income (loss).

Foreign currency forward contracts
The foreign currency forward contracts are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes.  These derivative finan-
cial instruments are recognized at fair value and any subsequent change in fair value is recognized in income (loss).

Convertible debentures
The proceeds from the offerings of convertible debentures are recognized as a liability component and an equity component, which 
represents the residual amount obtained after deducting the fair value of the financial liability from the fair value of the convertible 
debentures issued.  The fair value of the financial liability is estimated by comparing the stated interest rate on the debentures to the 
prevailing market rates for non-convertible debt with all other terms and conditions consistent to the underlying debenture.

Warrants
Warrants granted in connection with issuing common shares and convertible debentures are recorded at fair value on the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model or other appropriate measure. The component of the capital raised attributable 
to the fair value of the warrants is recorded in the corresponding period to contributed surplus. Any consideration paid by the war-
rant holder on exercise of the warrant is credited to share capital.

Transaction costs
Transaction costs related to financial instruments that are not classified as assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, 
are recognized on the statement of financial position as an adjustment to the cost of the financial instrument upon initial recognition 
and amortized using the effective interest rate method.  Deferred financing expenses related to revolving loans and recognized under 
non-current assets are amortized over the financing period.

Earnings per share
The computation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted 
earnings per share are computed in a similar way to basic earnings per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding 
are increased to include additional shares assuming the exercise of share options, share appreciation rights and convertible debt 
options, if dilutive.

Share-based compensation plans
Employees of the Group may receive remuneration in the form of stock options.  Awards granted under the Group’s stock option 
plan are recognized in comprehensive income (loss) using the fair value method.
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In certain transactions, the Group may issue share based compensation to other parties than employees. IFRS requires such transac-
tions to be measured in accordance with IFRS 2. 

Equity settled transactions
The cost of equity settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in other capital reserves, in equity, over 
the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

Reportable segments
A reportable business segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other segments.  All inter-
segment transactions are accounted for at the exchange amount. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, 
and for which discrete financial information is available. The Group has two main reportable segments; Steel Fabrication Services 
and Manufacturing.

Post-retirement benefit plans
The Group contributes to retirement savings plans subject to maximum limits per employee.  The Group accounts for such defined 
contributions as an expense in the period in which the contributions are required to be made.  The Group does not have any defined 
benefit plans.  

Investment tax credits
Federal and provincial investment tax credits are accounted for as a reduction to the corresponding expenditures in the period in 
which the credits are earned and when there is reasonable assurance that the credits can be used to recover taxes.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.  Actual results could 
differ from those judgements, estimates and assumptions.  The items whose actual results could differ significantly from those judge-
ments, estimates and assumptions are described below.

Revenue recognition
The percentage of completion method and the revenue to be recognized are determined on the basis of estimates for which the 
Group has implemented an internal financial budgeting and reporting system which relies on historical experience.  The Group 
reviews the estimates of contract revenue and contract costs as of each reporting date.  Contract losses are recognized as soon as 
they are identified.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group’s impairment test is based on value in use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model.  The cash flows are derived 
from the forecast and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments 
that may enhance the performance of the cash generating unit being tested.  The calculation is sensitive to the discount rate applied 
as well as the expected future cash inflows.  

Useful lives of key property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The depreciation method and useful lives reflect the pattern in which management expects the asset’s future economic benefits to be 
consumed by the Group.  Refer to note 3 for the estimated useful lives.

Taxes
The Group accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method.  Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized based on deductible or taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of the assets and li-
abilities.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantially enacted tax rates expected to apply in the years in which 
the temporary differences are expected to reverse.  If the estimates and assumptions are modified in the future, the Group may be 
required to reduce or increase the value of deferred tax assets or liabilities resulting in, where applicable, an income tax expense or 
recovery.  The Group regularly evaluates deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Standards issued but not yet effective
As of January 1, 2013, the Company will be required to adopt certain standards and amendments issued by the IASB as described 
below, for which the Company is currently assessing the impact.

4.

5.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of the existing standard for financial instruments [IAS 
39] and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets as defined in IAS 39.  The standard is effective for annual peri-
ods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  In subsequent phases, the IASB will address classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities, hedge accounting and derecognition.  The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and 
measurement of the Group’s financial assets.  The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, 
to present a comprehensive picture.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for consoli-
dated financial statements. It also includes the issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. What remains in 
IAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates in separate financial statements. IFRS 10 
establishes a single control model that applies to all entities. The changes introduced by IFRS 10 will require management to exercise 
significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled, and therefore are required to be consolidated by a parent, com-
pared with the requirements that were in IAS 27. IFRS 10 is effective for annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2013. 
The Group is currently in the process of evaluating the implications of this new standard, if any. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 27 related to consolidated financial statements, as well as all of 
the disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 and IAS 28 Investment in Associates. These disclosures relate to an entity’s 
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are also required. One 
of the most significant changes introduced by IFRS 12 is that an entity is now required to disclose the judgements made to determine 
whether it controls another entity. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2013. The Group is 
currently in the process of evaluating the implications of this new standard, which will be limited to disclosure requirements for the 
financial statements. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on how to measure the fair value 
of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities when required or permitted by IFRS. While many of the concepts in IFRS 13 are 
consistent with current practice, certain principles, such as the prohibition on blockage discounts for all fair value measurements, 
could have a significant effect. The disclosure requirements are substantial and could present additional challenges. 

IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2013 and will be applied prospectively. The Group is cur-
rently in the process of evaluating the implications of this new standard. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
The amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, issued by the IASB in June 2011, requires companies preparing fi-
nancial statements to group together items within other comprehensive income (“OCI”) on the basis of whether they may be reclas-
sified to the profit or loss section of the statement of comprehensive income. The amendments also reaffirm existing requirements 
that items in OCI and profit or loss should be presented as either a single statement or two consecutive statements.

IAS 12 Income Taxes
IAS 12 removes subjectivity in determining which basis an entity measures the deferred tax relating to an asset. The amendment 
introduces a presumption that an entity will assess whether the carrying value of an asset will be recovered through the sale of the 
asset. The amendment to IAS 12 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012. 

Loss per share
Loss for the year ended December 31

6.
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Basic earnings (loss) per share are derived by dividing net the earnings (loss) for the period by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding for the period.  The effect of potentially dilutive securities (“in-the-money” executive stock options, 
“in-the-money” warrants and convertible debentures) are excluded if they are anti-dilutive.

Discontinued operations and divestitures
On December 31, 2011, the Group completed the sale of its Empire Iron Works Ltd. Winnipeg and Welland facilities for gross pro-
ceeds of $5,044 consisting of $3,850 for property, plant and equipment and $1,194 for certain working capital items.  The transaction 
resulted in a gain of $22 after deducting transaction costs of $32 on the sale of items of property, plant and equipment with a net 
book value of $3,797.  Subsequent to the closing date the Group applied the proceeds received to both short and long-term borrow-
ings to Canadian Western Bank.  As a result of the sale, the Group has reported the results for the Winnipeg and Welland facilities 
as discontinued operations in its consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss).

During 2010, the Group made the decision to cease operating its processing division in Petrofield Industries Ltd, and the steel fab-
rication operation in George Third & Son Ltd. In 2010 (Trapp facility), the Group successfully terminated the lease of its remaining 
manufacturing facility directly related to the processing division and ceased operations in its steel fabrication facility.  As a result, 
the Group has reported the results for the processing division and the steel fabrication facility as discontinued operations in its con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income (loss).  The KWH Constructors Inc. field operations included in George Third & Son 
Ltd. continued with the core operations of the Group.  The KWH Constructors Inc. field operations were disposed subsequent to the 
date of the consolidated financial statements (note 36).

7.

8. Accounts receivable
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Prior to December 31, 2011, the Group completed the sale of certain items of property, plant and equipment for proceeds of 
$1,048 which had a net book value of $795.  The resulting gain on the sale of $253 is recorded in the statement of comprehensive 
income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2011. 

Construction contracts

Proceeds receivable9.

10.

11.

12.

Inventories
Inventories are comprised of the following

During the year, the Group recorded inventory write downs of $198 (2010 $1,077).  There were no reversals of prior period inventory 
write downs. The amount of inventories recognized as an expense within cost of goods sold is $9,723 ($14,125 in 2010).

Foreign currency forward contracts
The Company utilizes forward currency contracts to provide protection against foreign exchange rate movements on long-term 
sales contracts.  These contracts have not been designated as hedges for financial reporting purposes.  The Company’s policy is to 
not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Changes in fair values of forward currency forward contracts during the periods ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
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Non-current assets held for sale
As at December 31, 2010, the Group had identified certain items of property, plant and equipment from the Trapp Plant that was 
discontinued during the period that were redundant or irrelevant to the continuing operations of the Group.  As such, items of 
property, plant and equipment with a net book value of $674 were classified as held for sale as at December 31, 2010.  In 2011, the 
items of property, plant and equipment were sold for effective proceeds of $800 received by way of a reduction in subordinated notes 
payable (Note 21).

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation for 2011 consisted of $1601 from continuing operations ($1,486 for the year ended December 31, 2010) and $300 from 
discontinued operations ($881 for the year ended December 31, 2010). Fully amortized items of property, plant and equipment with 
a historical cost of $831 are still in use by the Group.

13.

14.
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The Group has a 49% interest in Athabasca Chipewyan Empire Industrial Services Ltd. (“ACE”), Fort McMurray, Canada, which is 
involved in the steel fabrication and installation business and provides multi trade industrial construction as well as maintenance 
services.  The Group’s interest in ACE includes its wholly owned subsidiaries, Lemax Machine and Welding Inc. and Bartan Machine 
and Welding Co. Ltd.  ACE is a private entity that is not listed on any public exchange.

Intangible assets

Investment in associates

15.

16.

During the year, the software was fully amortized but is still in use by the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED...



40    EMPIRE INDUSTRIES LTD. 2011 ANNUAL REPORT

During the year, the Group invested $711 US in exchange for a 45% interest in Dongguan Qiguang Dynamic Steel Structures Ltd 
(“QDSL”), in Dongguan, Guangdong P.R. China which is involved in the steel fabrication and installation business in China.  QDSL 
is a private entity and is not listed on any public exchange. The investment was financed by receipt of a limited recourse loan by 
the Group for the same amount (note 20). The Group’s shares of QDSL are the only security pledged in exchange for the limited 
recourse loan.The Group’s share of the equity earnings will be applied to the principal of the limited recourse loan until such time 
as the principal is repaid in full.

The Group’s share of the assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010  and income and 
expenses of ACE and QDSL for the period ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, which is included in the consolidated financial state-
ments using the equity method, are as follows:

The Group has outstanding long-term advances to ACE Industrial Services Ltd. of $341 (2010 - $314).  The advances accrue interest 
at 8% per annum with no specified repayment terms.  During the year, the Group received $27 (2010 - $23) in interest income from 
ACE Industrial Services Ltd.

Other non-current assets

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

17.

18.
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The Company’s cash balance of $642 (December 31, 2010 - $40, January 1, 2010 - $2,674) represents funds on deposit. The Com-
pany’s bank indebtedness balance of $2,279 (December 31, 2010 - $744, January 1, 2010 - nil) represents outstanding checks drawn 
on the bank operating line.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had total draws on its bank operating lines of credit of $7,186 consisting of:

An overdraft facility with Canadian Western Bank (“CWBank Overdraft Facility”) in the amount of $10,000 of which 
$7,186 (December 31, 2010 - $7,352, January 1, 2010 - nil) had been drawn down. Advances on the facility are payable on 
demand and bear interest at prime plus 2.75%.  The CWBank Overdraft Facility is secured by general security agreements 
providing a first security interest in all present and after-acquired property and a $25,000 demand debenture providing the 
bank with fixed and floating charges on all assets of Empire Industries Ltd. and Empire Iron Works Ltd.

At January 1, 2010, the Company had total draws on its operating lines of credit of $13,739 consisting of:

A line of credit with the Royal Bank of Canada in the amount of $6,000 of which $4,916 had been drawn down.  Advances 
on the line were payable on demand and bore interest at prime plus 4.5%.  The Royal Bank line of credit, and the term facili-
ties were secured by a general assignment of inventories and accounts receivable, a $6,000 debenture secured by a floating 
charge on all assets and a fixed charge on all property. On March 4, 2010 the line of credit was fully repaid with the proceeds 
of a re-financing with Canadian Western Bank and the line was cancelled.

A line of credit with HSBC in the amount of $10,000 of which $8,823 had been drawn down.  Advances on the line were 
payable on demand and bore interest at prime plus 4%.  The HSBC line of credit was secured by a general security agree-
ment creating a first fixed charge over any present and after acquired personal property of the borrower and a floating 
charge over all of the borrower’s present and after acquired real property.  In addition, the Company provided an indemnity 
agreement with respect to a master lease agreement.  On March 4, 2010 the line was fully repaid with the proceeds of a re-
financing with Canadian Western Bank and the line was cancelled.

Bank indebtedness and bank operating lines19.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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Long-term debt

 
The CWBank Term Loans are secured by general security agreements providing a first security interest in all present and after-
acquired property and a $25,000 demand debenture providing the bank with fixed and floating charges on assets of the Group.  The 
HSBC and other capital leases are secured by the equipment that is being leased.  On March 4, 2010 the amount outstanding under 
the Royal Bank non-revolving credit agreement was fully repaid from the proceeds of the re-financing with the Canadian Western 
Bank.

The Group was not in compliance with one of its financial covenants on the date of the statement of financial position, the result of 
which requires the Group to classify the long-term portion of its term debt subject to the financial covenants as a current liability. As 
a result $5,266 of long-term debt is recorded as current at December 31, 2011 because it is due to be settled in the next year ($1,549 
on December 31, 2010 and $1,634 on January 1, 2010) and $1,582 of long-term debt is recorded as current at December 31, 2011 
($5,873 at December 31, 2011 and $1,529 at January 1, 2010) as result of the covenant violation.

Subsequent to the date of the statement of financial position but before the consolidated financial statements were authorized for 
issue, the Group paid $4,161 of the balances owing on the two term loans with Canadian Western Bank by applying a portion of the 
proceeds received on the sale of the Winnipeg and Welland assets of $3,788 and the remaining $373 through scheduled principle 
repayments.  The balance of lease obligations to HSBC of $871 were also settled subsequent to the date of the statement of financial 
position from the proceeds received on their sale by the Group.

20.
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Principal amounts due on long-term debt in the current year and each of the next five years and thereafter and interest on capital 
leases are as follows:

Repayment of finance leases represent $963 of the portion of long-term debt to be repaid in 2012 and $5 of the portion of long-term 
debt to be repaid in 2013.  The Group does not currently have any finance leases that extend beyond 2013.

Notes payable and limited recourse loan

The related parties as noted above are officers and/or directors of Empire Industries Ltd. and/or its wholly owned subsidiaries.  Dur-
ing the period, interest of $nil (2010 - $182) was paid to these related parties.  Total interest expense to the related parties amounted 
to $335 (2010 - $375).

The notes payable to the George Third & Son Ltd. vendors were issued on August 31, 2006 as part of the consideration for the pur-
chase of the shares of George Third & Son Ltd.  The principal plus accrued interest on these notes was due on April 30, 2011 and is 
secured by a general security agreement.   Interest was compounded quarterly at a rate of 10%.  

During 2011, the Group settled the notes payable to the vendors of George Third & Son Ltd. in two tranches:

•	 On April 4, 2011, the Group settled $800 of the subordinated notes as consideration for $674 of certain items of property, 
plant and equipment with a net book value of $674 previously classified as held for sale with a resulting gain of $126 re-
corded in the statement of comprehensive income.

•	 On December 29, 2011, the Group completeda subordinated convertible debenture issue for gross proceeds of $500. The 
proceeds received from the debenture were used to settle the balance of the notes.  The final settlement of the notes re-
sulted in a gain of $1,008 in the statement of comprehensive income(loss) for the year ended.

The Group settled $1,356 of the notes payable to the KWH Constructors Corp. vendors subsequent the date of the statement of 
financial position in exchange for the KHW Constructors field operation (note 36) resulting in $677 remaining outstanding.  The 
notes were issued on April 30, 2007 as part of the consideration for the purchase of the shares of KWH Constructors Corp.  The 
principal plus accrued interest on these unsecured notes was due on April 30, 2011.   Interest is compounded quarterly at a rate of 
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10%.  Under the terms of the CW Bank agreement, the notes cannot be repaid without formal consent from the bank and therefore 
have been classified as long-term with the exception of the $1,356 which was settled with the consent of the CW Bank.There are no 
penalties payable on the remaining portion outstanding, which continues to accrue interest compounded quarterly at a rate of 10%.

The limited recourse loan was issued on November 14, 2011 in the amount of $711 USD and the proceeds were used to fund the 
Group’s 45% investment in Dongguan Qiguang Dynamic Steel Structures Limited (QDSL) in Dongguan, Guangdong, P.R. China 
(note 16).  The loan bears interest at 10% per annum paid quarterly.  Security for the loan for QiGuang Investment (HK) Limited is 
restricted to the Group’s shares of QDSL.There is no term on the loan and the agreed method of principle payments for the loan is 
restricted only to the Group’s share of the equity earnings of QDSL.   

Other notes payable bear interest at a rate of 7% and are secured by a general security agreement and are payable on demand.  During 
the year, interest was paid to these noteholders in the amount of $14 (2010 - $29).

Convertible debentures
Convertible debentures formed part of the November 30, 2007 acquisition of Petrofield Industries Inc.  These convertible debentures 
matured on June 1, 2011 and were repaid at maturity.  

During the year the Group issued subordinate convertible debentures with a face value of $1,060.  These convertible debentures 
are unsecured and subordinated and are convertible into Empire Industries Ltd. common shares at a conversion price of $0.10. The 
terms and conditions for each of the debenture issues are as follows:

•	 February 14, 2011– subordinate convertible debentures with a face value of $560 were issued with an annual coupon inter-
est rate of 10% payable annually on December 31.  The debenture matures on February 13, 2016.

•	 December 29, 2011 – subordinate convertible debentures with a face value of $500 were issued with an annual coupon 
interest rate of 15% payable quarterly 45 days after each calendar quarter ended provided that the entity is in compliance 
its financial covenants.  In the event that the entity is not incompliance with one or more of its financial covenants, the 
interest is accrued. The debenture matures on December 28, 2016.  

The fair value of the subordinated convertible debentures at December 31, 2011 is $903 and is recorded at amortized cost.  Fair value 
was estimated by comparing the face value of the debentures to the prevailing market rates for similar non-convertible debt instru-
ments. The residual value of $157 is separately recorded in equity.  Transaction costs incurred for the debentures were $26 of which 
$22 are recorded in deferred financing charges at December 31, 2011.

Share capital

Common shares

Authorized
The Group is permitted to issue an unlimited number of common shares without nominal or par value and an unlimited number 
of preferred shares.  The preferred shares may be issued in one or more series, and the Directors are authorized to fix the number of 
shares in each series and to determine the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the shares of each 
series.
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During 2011 the Group closed the private placements of 102,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds 
of $5,100. 72,000,000 common share purchase warrants were issued in conjunction with the common shares purchased.  Each full 
warrant entitles the holder to buy one common share at an exercise price of $0.10 per share.

Warrants
During the year, warrants were issued in connection with a private placement of shares and in connection with one of the convert-
ible debentures raised. 42,000,000 issued shares came with a full common share purchase warrant while 60,000,000 issued shares 
came with one half of a common share purchase warrant. Each full warrant allows the holder to purchase a common share of the 
Group for $0.10, during a period of 24 months following closing. An additional 5,000,000 warrants were issued in conjunction with 
the Group’s December 29, 2011 convertible debenture issue.  Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the 
Group for $0.10 and is exercisable for 24 months from the date of issue.

A summary of the Group’s warrants as at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 and changes during the periods then ended 
follows:

The warrants are recorded at fair value, which the Group has estimated at $nil as at December 31, 2011.  Securities legislation re-
stricts the minimum exercise price of warrants to $0.10 per common share regardless of the market price of the common shares of 
the Group.  The impact of the restriction is that fair value estimates from conventional and accepted Black-Scholes pricing models 
are not reasonable or appropriate to property reflect the underlying transactions.  

Stock Options
The Group maintains a stock option plan for the benefit of officers, directors, key employees and consultants of the Group. At De-
cember 31, 2011 the Group was permitted to issue up to a maximum of 19,323,961 stock options, being 10% of the outstanding 
common shares.  A summary of the Group’s options as at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 and changes to the periods 
then ended are as follows:

The fair value associated with the options granted was calculated using the Black-Scholes model for option valuation.  The options 
granted in 2011 were granted in one issuance vesting over three years from the date of grant.  The volatility assumed for the options 
granted is 139%.  The risk-free interest rate assumed for the options was 2.06%.  The annual pre-vest forfeiture rate which is calcu-
lated based on historical data is estimated at 9.58%.  The market price at the date of grant was $0.06 per share. In 2010, there was 
also only one issuance of options that vested immediately.  The volatility assumed for the issuance was 122% and the risk-free rate 
assumed was 1.4%.  The annual pre-vest forfeiture rate based on historical data was estimated at 7.25%.  The market price at the date 
of grant was $0.09.  The fair value of the options granted is $279.
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Finder’s Options – Units of Common Shares and Warrants
In addition, the Group granted 3,200,000 finder’s options for units of common shares and warrants, in conjunction with the May 
31, 2011 private placement.  The finder’s options have an exercise price of $0.05 and expire on May 31, 2012.  If exercised, each unit 
will consist of one common share and one common share purchase warrant.  If issued, the common share purchase warrants would 
carry an exercise price of $0.10, and would expire on May 31, 2013.  The fair value of options is $95.

Stock-based compensation expense included $95 (2010 $nil) as fair value of finder’s options granted.

Contributed surplus

Changes in contributed surplus consisted of the following:

Joint ventures

The Group entered into two 50% joint venture agreements with AMEC International (Canada) Ltd. for the completion of two proj-
ects which were completed during 2010.  The Group uses the proportionate consolidation method to record the joint ventures.   The 
following table sets out the Group’s proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, venturers’ equity, revenues, expenses, net earnings 
and cash flows of these joint ventures:

24.
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Cost of sales

Selling and administrative expenses

Other income (loss)

Finance costs

26.
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Income tax expense (recovery)

The major components of tax expense are as follows:

The reconciliation between income tax expense (recovery) and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the combined 
federal and provincial statutory income tax rate is as follows:

29.
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The amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of each type of temporary difference and in respect of each type of unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits is as follows:

The amount of deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recog-
nized are as follows:

The unused tax losses presented above expire as follows:

The unused tax credits presented above expire as follows:
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Operating segments
A description of the Company’s business segments, Steel Fabrication services and Manufacturing are included in note 3.  Revenue 
recognition is not consistent between the two segments as all revenues are recognized in the Steel Fabrication services segment are 
recognized in accordance with IAS 11 – Construction Contracts.  Revenue recognition in the Manufacturing segment is in accor-
dance with both IAS 11 and IAS 18 depending the individual circumstances.

30.
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The following table breaks down the sales by geographical region:

All non-current assets of the Group are located in Canada.

Capital disclosure and management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to strive for a long-term manageable level of net funded debt to total capital.  The 
Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk.  The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light 
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell redundant or non-core assets to reduce debt.

Net funded debt includes bank indebtedness (net of cash), bank operating lines, proceeds receivable and non-subordinated debt 
and notes payable.  Tangible net worth includes shareholders’ equity and subordinated debt such as subordinated notes payable and 
convertible debentures, less the value of goodwill and intangible assets.

The Group’s strategy during the period, which was unchanged from the prior period, was to maintain its ability to secure access to 
financing at a reasonable cost.  There are external restrictions to capital as lending limits are based on asset availability and financing 
agreements are impacted by covenants.
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The Group was not in compliance with one of its financial covenants as at any of the periods listed above.

Financial instruments and risk management

Fair value of financial instruments

The Group has established the following classification:

•	 Cash and equivalents, bank indebtedness and foreign currency forward contractsare classified under “Asset or liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss”.

•	 Notes receivable and Available for sale investments are classified as “Available for Sale”

•	 Accounts receivable including related party and other are classified as “Loans and receivables”

•	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank operating lines, convertible debentures, notes payable, subordinated notes 
payable and limited recourse loan and long-term debt are classified as “Other Financial Liabilities”

Fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss if they are acquired for selling or repurchasing in the near term. 

Loans and receivables
The carrying amounts of the financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturity and the prevailing 
interest rates of these instruments, which are comparable to those of the market.

Available for sale
Bid quoted prices on the statement of financial position date are used to establish the fair value due of investments for which active 
markets exist.

The fair values of the other investments for which no active markets exist are carried at cost as no reliable fair value information is 
readily available.

Other financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial instruments approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturity and the prevailing 
interest rates of these instruments, which are comparable to those of the market.  The fair value of the long-term debts was derived 
by comparing interest rates currently being offered and the fair value of convertible debentures, limited recourse loan and notes 
payable were established by discounting cash flows at rates currently being offered to the Group for debts with the same maturities 
and conditions.  

Hierarchy of fair value measurements
The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value into three levels according to the observability of the 
inputs used in their measurement. 
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Level 1 
This level includes assets and liabilities measured at fair value based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities 
in active markets that the Group can access on the measurement date.

Level 2
This level includes measurements based on directly or indirectly observable inputs other than quoted markets prices included in 
Level 1.  Financial instruments in this category are measured using valuation models or other standard valuation techniques that 
rely on observable market inputs.

Level 3 
The measurements used at this level rest on inputs that are unobservable, unavailable, or whose observable inputs do not justify the 
largest part of the fair value instruments.

The following table presents information on the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value and discloses the fair value hier-
archy of the valuation techniques used to determine this fair value at December 31, 2011:

    
As at december 31, 2010:

As at January 1, 2010:
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Risk management
In the normal course of its business, the Group is exposed to a number of risks that can affect its operating performance.  Manage-
ment’s close involvement in operations helps identify risks and variations from expectations.  As a part of the overall operation of 
the Group, management considers the avoidance of undue concentrations of risk.  The Group manages its risks and risk exposures 
through a combination of financial instruments, insurance, a system of internal and disclosure controls and sound business prac-
tices.  The primary types of financial risk which arise are liquidity, credit, and market risk.  These risks and the actions taken to 
manage them are as follows: 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations associated with financial liabilities in full. A range of 
alternatives is available to the Group including cash flow provided by operations, additional debt, the issuance of equity or a combi-
nation thereof.  The funds are primarily used to finance working capital and capital expenditure requirements and are adequate to 
meet the Group’s foreseeable financial obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The following table summarizes the Group’s financial liabilities with corresponding maturity dates as at December 31, 2011

The Company expects to have adequate resources to discharge these financial liabilities.  The bank operating lines are renewable on 
an annual basis and, to the extent that these are renewed, there is no requirement for the balance to be paid down other than in the 
ordinary course of operations.  The subordinated notes payable were due on April 30, 2011, but because the notes are subordinated 
to the bank, payment of the notes is not permitted without consent of the bank. The Group has settled $1,356 of the subordinated 
notes payable subsequent to the statement of financial position date.  At December 31, 2011, the Company has $11,360 of accounts 
receivable and $3,435 of unbilled accounts receivable that once collected will allow the Company to discharge the remainder of the 
financial liabilities in the normal course.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill their commitments 
to the Group.  For a financial asset, this is typically the gross carrying amount, net of any amounts offset and any impairment losses.  
The Group has credit policies to address credit risk on accounts receivable from customers, which may include the analysis of the 
financial position of customers and review of credit limits.  The Group also reviews new customer credit history before establishing 
credit and periodically reviews existing customer credit performance.  The Group may require letters of credit or credit insurance.  
An allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon factors surrounding credit risk of specific customers, historical trends 
and other information.

At December 31, 2010, the Group had one individual customer accounting for about 9.5% of total accounts receivable.

As at December 31, the Group has $1,290 of trade accounts receivable over 90 days which have not been provisioned ($587 as at 
December 31, 2010 and $421 as at January 1, 2010).  As at December 31, 2011, trade accounts receivable that were provisioned 
amounted to $195 ($230 as at December 31, 2010 and $450 as at January 1, 2010). These accounts were provisioned due mostly to 
hardship related to economic conditions.

The following table summarizes changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts:
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  Total  2012  2013  2014  2015  2016 +
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 11,071 $ 11,071 $ - $ - $ - $ -
Income taxes payable  196  196  -  -  -  -
Bank indebtedness  2,279  2,279  -  -  -  -
Bank operating lines  7,186  7,186  -  -  -  -
Long-term debt   6,848  5,266  221  230  246  885
Limited recourse loan  730  -  -  150  150  430
Notes payable - subordinated  2,033  1,356  -  -  -  677
Convertible debentures  1,060  -  -  -  -  1,060
Operating leases   6,701  1,627  1,350  1,241  1,268  1,215
Total $ 38,104 $ 28,981 $ 1,571 $ 1,621 $ 1,644 $ 4,267
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will have an effect on future cash flows associated with financial instruments.  
Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk.

Currency risk
The Group sells its products, as well as, purchases goods in both Canadian and U.S. currencies. Accordingly, the Group is exposed 
to currency risk as it relates to customer accounts receivable balances and trade accounts payable denominated in U.S. currency. 
Changes in the applicable exchange rate may result in a decrease or increase in foreign exchange income or expense. The Group 
may enter into forward exchange contracts or use other hedging activities to manage part of the foreign risk exposures relating to 
customer accounts receivable balances and trade accounts payable denominated in U.S. currency.

As at December 31, 2011, the Group had U. S. dollar forward currency contracts for $nil (2010 - $2,906) with exchange rates ranging 
from $0.9997 to $1.03850 per U.S. dollar and maturity dates ranging from January 2011 to June 2011.  The accounts noted below 
include amounts denominated in U. S. currency that have been converted to the Canadian dollar equivalent on the balance sheet 
date at a rate of $1.02 per U.S. dollar (2010 - $1.00):

For the year ended December 31, 2011, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened 10% percent against the US dollar with all other 
variables held constant, net income for the period would have been $90 lower (2010 - $64 lower).  Conversely, if the Canadian dol-
lar had weakened 10% percent against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, net income would have been $90higher 
(2010 - $64 higher).

Foreign exchange hedges available for future net receivables are as follows:

Included in sales are realized gains on translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities and realized gains on foreign 
currency forward contractsof $163 (2009 - $2,268).

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates.  The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its variable rates on bank operating lines and long term 
borrowings.  The Group manages exposure to interest rate risk by using a combination of fixed and floating rate debt instruments.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, if interest rates had been 50 basis points lower with all other variables held constant, after-
tax net income for the period would have been $90 (December 31, 2010 - $37) higher, arising mainly as a result of lower interest 
expenses on variable borrowings.  If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher, with all other variables held constant, after-tax 
net income would have been $90 (December 31, 2010 - $37) lower, arising mainly as a result of higher interest expenses on variable 
borrowings.  

Commodity price risk

Manufacturing costs for the Group’s products are affected by fluctuations in the price of raw materials, primarily steel.  In order 
to manage its risk, the Group implements selling price adjustments in order to match raw material cost changes.  This matching is 
not always possible as customers react to selling price pressures related to raw material cost fluctuations according to conditions 
pertaining to their markets.  For long term contracts, the Group may negotiate the inclusion of a flow through price adjustment 
clause into contracts whereby the customer agrees to price changes based on the underlying market value of steel.  In order to limit 
the risk associated with steel price increases, the Group locks in order prices to the extent possible as soon as contracts are awarded.

The sensitivity analyses in the currency risk and interest rate risk sections above do not take into consideration that the Group’s 
liabilities are actively managed.  Additionally, the financial position of the Group may vary at the time that any actual market move-
ment occurs or be mitigated by management’s actions to reduce exposure to risks.  Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses 
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includes the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk that only represent the Group’s view of possible 
near-term market changes that cannot be predicted with any certainty; and the assumption that all interest rates move in an identi-
cal fashion.

Related parties
Balances with related parties are presented separately in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.  During 2011, rent was 
paid to companies controlled by officers, directors and members of their families in the amount $162 ($483 in 2010).Also, the 
Group had sales to an Associate in the amount $555 ($3,511 in 2010), $60 of which were management fees in both periods.These 
transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration 
established and agreed to by the parties.

Compensation awarded to key management included.

Subsidiaries

Guarantees and contingencies

Loan guarantees
The Group is contingently liable under two guarantees given to third-party lenders who have provided certain financing facilities 
to associated investments.  As at December 31, 2011, the maximum amount of fixed guarantees provided to a third-party lender on 
behalf of an affiliated company is $936 ($460 as at December 31, 2010 and $650 as at January 1, 2010).  In addition, the Company 
has provided an unlimited guarantee on behalf of an equity investment over which the Company exercises significant influence.

Letters of Credit
In the normal course of business, the Group contracted letters of credit for an amount of up to $200 as at December 31, 2011 ($nil 
as at December 31, 2010 and $nil as at January 31, 2010).

Director and officer indemnification
The Group indemnifies its directors and officers against any and all claims or losses reasonably incurred in the performance of their 
service to the Group to the extent permitted by law.  The Group has acquired and maintains liability insurance for its directors and 
officers as well as those of its wholly-owned subsidiaries and certain affiliated companies.

Other indemnification provisions
From time to time, the Group enters into agreements in the normal course of operations and in connection with business or asset 
acquisitions and dispositions.  By their nature, these agreements may provide for indemnification of counterparties.  The varying na-
ture of these indemnification agreements prevents the Group from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount 
it could incur.  Historically, the Group has not made any significant payments in connection with these indemnification provisions.
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Other contingencies
The Group is subject to various product liability or general claims and legal proceedings covering matters that arise in the ordinary 
course of business.  All such matters are adequately covered by insurance or by accruals, or are determined by management to be 
without merit, or of such kinds or amounts as would not have a material adverse effect on the financial results of the Group.

Events after the balance sheet date

The following events transpired subsequent to the date of the statement of financial position:

•	 The Group divested its interest in KWH Constructors and Somerset Engineering business units for consideration of 
$1,356 from related parties.  Consideration for the transaction was effected through an exchange of the Group’s promis-
sory notes which were originally issued to the purchasers as part of the original acquisition of KWH Constructor’s Corp. 
and Somerset Engineering Ltd. businesses by the Group in 2007.

•	 The Group re-negotiated its lending facility with CW Bank subsequent to the sale of the Winnipeg and Welland facilities. 

•	 The Group’s revolving credit facility was reduced to $7,000 which reflects the Group’s current borrowing requirements.

Transition to IFRS  
For all periods up to December 31, 2010, the Group prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP (“CGAAP”).  These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 are the first annual consolidated 
financial statements that comply with IFRS standards in effect as at December 31, 2011, as further described in the Group’s account-
ing policies [note 3].  In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Group’s opening consolidated statement of financial 
position was prepared as at January 1, 2010, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS.  This note explains the principal adjustments 
made by the Group in restating its Canadian GAAP consolidated statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010 and its previ-
ously published Canadian GAAP consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Elected exemptions from full retrospective application
In preparing these interim consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the Group has applied certain of the op-
tional exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS.  The optional exemptions applied by the Group are described below.

Business combinations
The Group has applied the business combinations exemption in IFRS 1 to not apply IFRS 3 retrospectively to past business combina-
tions.  Accordingly, the Group has not restated business combinations that took place prior to the transition date.

Share-based payments
The Group has elected to retrospectively apply the provisions of IFRS 2, Share-based Payments (“IFRS 2”) only to [i] equity instru-
ments granted after November 7, 2002 that are unvested at the transition date, and [ii] liability instruments arising from share-based 
payment transactions that are outstanding at the date of transition.

Foreign exchange
Cumulative currency translation differences for all foreign operations are deemed to be zero as at January 1, 2010.

Borrowing costs 
The Group has elected only to capitalize borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capital-
ization is on or after the date of transition.

Reconciliation of statements of cash flows
The impact of the transition to IFRS did not have a material effect on the statements of cash flows.  As such, no reconciliation has 
been provided.

Reconciliation of financial position 
The following are reconciliations of the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position reported in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP to its consolidated statement of financial position reported in accordance with IFRS at the transition date January 1, 2010 
and December 31, 2010 respectively:
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Notes to the reconciliations

The following adjustments were made to the Group’s consolidated financial statements resulting from the adoption of IFRS:

Deferred gains on sale and leaseback transactions.
Under Canadian GAAP the Group had deferred gains relating to sale and leaseback transactions in the amount $2,330 at January 1, 
2010 and $1,550 at December 31, 2010.  In accordance with IAS 17, gains (losses) associated with operating leases are recognized in 
comprehensive income immediately.

Goodwill
In conjunction with IFRS 1, the Group performed impairment testing using discounted cash flows on all cash generating units 
(“CGU’s”).  As a result of the impairment testing, the Group concluded that an impairment charge of $8,173 was required.  The 
impairment charge was recorded in retained earnings at the transition date.

Property, plant and equipment 
The Group elected to elected to use the fair value of certain items of land, buildings and machinery & equipment as its deemed cost 
at the transition date.  As a result of the election, the Group recorded an increase in property, plant and equipment of $1,732 at the 
January 1, 2010 and $1,932 at December 31, 2010.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The Group de-recognized $2,479 deferred tax assets as at January 1, 2010 and $1,009 as at December 31, 2010 as well as derecogniz-
ing deferred tax liabilities in the amount of $1,537 as at January 1, 2010 and $1,003 as at December 31, 2010.  These deferred tax 
assets and liabilities were derecognized in accordance with IAS 12 and emerged primarily as a result of changes in the accounting 
bases of property, plant and equipment and deferred gains on sale and leaseback transactions.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recorded as current assets and liabilities. Existing current future income tax assets in the 
amount of $193 were reclassified to long-term future income tax assets as at January 1, 2010 ($nil at December 31, 2010).  Existing 
current future income tax liabilities in the amount of $794 were reclassified to long-term future income tax liabilities as at January 
1, 2010 ($nil as at December 31, 2010).

Long-term debt
The Group reclassified $1,529 of long-term debt to current liabilities as at January 1, 2010 and $5,873 of long-term debt to current 
liabilities as at December 31, 2010 because the Group was not in compliance with one of its financial covenants at each of those 
dates.  Under CGAAP, if covenant waivers were received or the Group cured the covenant violation subsequent to the date of the 
statement of financial position, the Group was permitted to continue to classify the long-term portion of debt subject to the financial 
covenants as a long-term liability.

Receivable from related parties
Balances separately identified as current balances receivable from a related party in the amount $644 as at January 1, 2010 and $191 
as at December 31, 2010 have been reclassified to Accounts Receivable for presentation purposes.  The balances due from related 
parties is separately identified in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Assets held for sale
Under CGAAP, $674 of assets held for sale were classified as current assets as at December 31, 2010.  The Group has reclassified the 
balance separately in the statement of financial position.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable
Deferred revenue amounts previously included in accounts receivable of $1,290 as at January 1, 2010 and $1,108 as at December 31, 
2010 relate to construction contracts and have been reclassified to Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and separately identified 
in note 18.
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Reconciliation of comprehensive loss

Reconciliation of comprehensive loss for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2010:

Notes to the reconciliations

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets
In conjunction with the Group’s election to use fair value as deemed cost for certain items of property, plant and equipment the 
Group changed its accounting policy with respect to amortization and now depreciates these assets using a straight-line basis.  The 
impact of this change was depreciation expense decreased by $267 for the period ended December 31, 2010 from continuing opera-
tions and increased by $67 from discontinued operations.

Amortization of deferred gains on sale and leaseback transactions
Consistent with the Group’s decision to recognize the deferred gains resulting from sale and lease back transactions in retained 
earnings at the transition date, $266 recognized in comprehensive income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 has been 
removed from the statement of comprehensive income from continuing operations as well as $515 from discontinued operations.
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Goodwill
Loss from discontinued operations included an impairment charge of $8,173. In accordance with IFRS 1, the Group concluded that 
the goodwill was impaired at January 1, 2010 and thus the charges have been removed from the results from discontinued operations 
for the period ended December 31, 2010.

Discontinued operations
Included in the reclassification column of the reconciliation of the statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended December 
31, 2010, are reclassifications required to disclose the effect of the discontinued operations of the Winnipeg and Welland facilities 
sold on December 31, 2011.
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Reconciliation of the statement of cash flows
Reconciliation of the statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010:

Notes to the reconciliation
Adjustments noted in the reconciliation of the statement of comprehensive loss had presentation impacts on the statement of cash 
flows specifically as it relates to cash flows from operating activities.  Adjustments to the presentation were also disclosed to show 
the impact of discontinued operations that have been adjusted for comparative purposes. 
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